

Department of Child and Adolescent Health and Development World Health Organization

Acknowledgements

WHO/CAH wishes to thank Prof. Jonathan R Carapetis, Centre for International Child Health, University of Melbourne Department of Paediatrics, Royal Children's Hospital, Melbourne, Australia for undertaking this review, and Dr. Andrew C Steer and Prof. E. Kim Mulholland, Royal Children's Hospital, Melbourne, Australia, for contributing to it. WHO/CAH is grateful to Drs. Alan Bisno, Singh Chhatwal, Hala Hamsa, Ed Kaplan, Fran Rubin, and Anne Schuchat for reviewing the draft manuscript and providing valuable comments..

© World Health Organization 2005

All rights reserved. Publications of the World Health Organization can be obtained from Marketing and Dissemination, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland (tel: +41 22 791 2476; fax: +41 22 791 4857; email: bookorders@who.int). Requests for permission to reproduce or translate WHO publications – whether for sale or for noncommercial distribution – should be addressed to Publications, at the above address (fax: +41 22 791 4806; email: permissions@who.int).

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

The World Health Organization does not warrant that the information contained in this publication is complete and correct and shall not be liable for any damages incurred as a result of its use.

The named authors alone are responsible for the views expressed in this publication.

Table of Contents

List of abbreviations	V
Executive summary	vi
Intorduction	1
Methods	2
Search strategies	2
Regions	3
Denominators	3
Specific methods for RHD review	3
Rheumatic heart disease inclusion criteria	3
Extraction of data	4
Compilation of data	4
Extrapolation to other age groups	4
Results	6
Rheumatic Heart Disease and Acute Rheumatic Fever	6
Prevalence of rheumatic heart disease	6
Extrapolation to all ages	6
Quality of RHD prevalence data	8
Rheumatic heart disease prevalence in urban compared to rural areas	
Incidence of acute rheumatic fever	10
Quality of ARF incidence data	11
Prevalence of a history of acute rheumatic fever without rheumatic heart disease	12
Mortality from Acute Rheumatic Fever and Rheumatic Heart Disease	
Quality of ARF/RHD mortality data	14
Other data relating to rheumatic heart disease	15
Other RHD-related morbidity and mortality	16
Infective endocarditis	16
Stroke	16
ARF-RHD related morbidity and mortality not included here	17
Quality of other RHD-related morbidity and mortality	17
Other group A streptococcal diseases (not including ARF / RHD)	17
Acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis	17
Mortality and complications from APSGN	18
Quality of APSGN data	18
Invasive group A streptococcal disease	19
Quality of invasive disease data	20
Superficial group A streptococcal diseases	21
Pyoderma	21
Pharyngitis	21
Quality of superficial disease data	22
Summary	23

Discussion		24
Priority issue	S	26
Appendix 1.	Studies since 1985 of rheumatic heart disease prevalence in school-age children, used to calculate regional and global rheumatic heart disease burden	27
Appendix 2.	Recent studies documenting the incidence of acute rheumatic fever in children and adolescents	30
Appendix 3.	Hospital-based and cause of death studies relating to rheumatic heart disease	31
Appendix 4.	Studies since 1980 documenting the association of rheumatic heart disease and infective endocarditis	34
Appendix 5.	Population based studies of the incidence of acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis	35
Appendix 6.	Population-based studies of the incidence of invasive group A streptococcal infections	36
Appendix 7.	Studies since 1980 documenting population or community-based prevalence of scabies and/or pyoderma	37
References .		38

List of abbreviations

ACTH Adreno-corticotrophic hormone

APSGN Acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis

ARF Acute rheumatic fever
CMR Crude mortality rate
GAS Group A streptococcus
IE Infective endocarditis
RHD Rheumatic heart disease
SES Socio-economic status
SMR Standardised mortality rate

UN United Nations

WHO World Health Organization

Executive summary

Group A streptococcus (GAS) causes a broad spectrum of disease, from severe invasive infections and the post-streptococcal complications of acute rheumatic fever (ARF) and acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis (APSGN) to mild superficial infections of the throat or skin. These diseases may lead to further complications (e.g. ARF may cause rheumatic heart disease, which in turn may be further complicated by endocarditis or strokes).

The only GAS disease for which global disease burden estimates have previously been made is rheumatic heart disease (RHD). Systematic reviews were conducted to ind all published and unpublished data relating to the burden of each manifestation of GAS disease. We aimed to include only recent data, and population-based data where possible, and applied incidence and prevalence estimates to population denominator data from the UN Population website. We defined the following regions according to presumed homogeneity of GAS disease rates: Sub-Saharan Africa, South-Central Asia, People's Republic of China, other countries in Asia (excluding Japan), Latin America, Middle East and North Africa, Eastern Europe, Pacific Island countries and indigenous Australian and New Zealand, and Established Market Economies.

RESULTS

Burden of Disease

We conclude that approximately 18.1 million people currently suffer from a serious GAS disease, another 1.78 million new cases occur each year, and these diseases are responsible for over 500,000 deaths each year (See table below). Added to this are over 111 million prevalent cases of streptococcal pyoderma, and 616 million new cases of GAS pharyngitis each year.

Summary of estimated global burden of group A streptococcal diseases					
Disease	Number of existing cases	Number of new cases each year	Number of deaths each year		
Rheumatic heart disease	15.6 million	282,000*	233,000**		
History of acute rheumatic fever without carditis, requiring secondary prophylaxis	1.88 million	188,000*			
RHD-related infective endocarditis		34,000	8,000		
RHD-related stroke	640,000	144,000	108,000		
Acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis	-	472,000	5,000		
Invasive group A streptococcal diseases		663,000	163,000		
Total severe cases	18.1 million	1.78 million	517,000		
Pyoderma	111 million				
Pharyngitis		616 million			

All estimates rounded off. Note that these estimates assume constancy of incidence and prevalence over time.

- * New RHD cases were calculated based on the proportion of incident ARF cases expected to develop RHD. The remainder of incident ARF cases are included in the "History of ARF without carditis" row. Therefore, the total number of new ARF cases each year is 282,000 + 188,000 = 470,000.
- ** Includes ARF deaths. RHD deaths are based on proportion of existing RHD cases expected to die each year.
- No attempt has been made to quantify the prevalence of APSGN-induced chronic renal impairment or end-stage renal failure

The vast majority of all of these cases came from less developed countries (79% of RHD cases, 95% of ARF cases, 97% of APSGN cases, 97% of invasive GAS cases). We have used relatively conservative assumptions at each step, so these are minimum summary estimates of the burden of GAS diseases.

Quality of data

There were many areas where the data were deficient, particularly from less developed countries. We found sufficient data to be confident of the estimates for prevalence of RHD, and for incidence of invasive GAS diseases in more developed countries. All of the remaining estimates (ARF incidence, APSGN incidence, ARF/RHD mortality, invasive GAS disease incidence in less developed countries, RHD-related IE and stroke, pyoderma prevalence, GAS pharyngitis incidence) are based on relatively poor-quality data, particularly in some regions. Therefore, there is considerable uncertainty surrounding the estimates presented here. However, at each step we have attempted to make assumptions that tend to under-estimate rather than over-estimate the burden of disease. The estimates presented here relate to numbers of cases and deaths. GAS causes disease predominantly in children and young adults, so the burden to communities in terms of years of potential life lost is even higher than reflected purely in terms of numbers of cases and deaths.

CONCLUSIONS

Even given the limitations of the data on which they are based, these estimates suggest that GAS causes a substantial burden of disease and death on a global scale, mainly in children and young adults and in less developed countries (although they also remain relatively important diseases in more developed countries).

The data presented here also indicate that GAS diseases are highly prevalent in some regions, but may be less so in others. For example, RHD is very common in Sub-Saharan Africa and the Pacific, common in South-Central Asia and the Middle East / North Africa, but apparently less common in many Asian countries and Latin America. The ARF incidence data do not always match the RHD prevalence data. In some cases, this may be due to reducing incidence of ARF, which precedes by some years a reduction in RHD prevalence. However, a more likely explanation is the poor quality of data from some regions, particularly Sub-Saharan Africa, Asia and South-Central Asia. The pyoderma data also suggest regional differences in prevalence, which cannot be solely attributed to climate or socio-economic conditions. For example the highest pyoderma prevalences were documented in the Pacific region, whereas poorer, tropical African countries had substantially lower prevalences. The data were inadequate to draw any conclusions regarding regional differences regarding ARF/RHD mortality, APSGN, invasive GAS disease, or pharyngitis. Better data from a number of key regional sites in less developed countries would allow a more detailed analysis of regional differences and perhaps reveal markers that might enable local authorities to determine if they should be investing resources into efforts to control GAS diseases. Such data may also improve our understanding of the individual diseases and how to prevent them.

PRIORITY ISSUES

The burden of GAS diseases and the association of these diseases with poverty cannot be ignored. It is now critical to develop mechanisms for data collection to provide disease burden estimates with greater confidence. Regional variations in disease burden and the paucity of data relating to particular diseases and outcomes make it critical to improve data collection in less developed countries.

Field sites are needed for intensive population based GAS disease burden studies (including bacteraemia surveillance) in less developed countries. Ideally, at least one site would be established in each of Sub-Saharan

Africa, Pacific Island nations, East or South-east Asia, and South-Central Asia. In many regions there are already instutions with the necessary infrastructure, and even some with baseline GAS epidemiological data (e.g. the Wellcome/KEMRI Clinical Research Unit in Kenya, where bacteraemia data are being collected), which would simplify the process of establishing GAS field sites. There are a number of research institutes in South-Central Asia that collect GAS epidemiological data; it should not be difficult for one site to expand its program to collect information on all GAS diseases, or perhaps for a collaborative project to be established across institutes.

In addition to collecting complete epidemiological data, these sites could attempt to develop simpler tools for making some GAS disease burden estimates in other less developed countries. These field sites would also likely be ideal locations for future clinical trials of GAS vaccines, with the aim of evaluating their efficacy against the GAS diseases of greatest importance to less developed countries.

Introduction

Group A streptococcus (GAS) causes a broad spectrum of disease, from mild superficial infections of the throat or skin, to infections such as cellulitis and erysipelas, severe invasive infections including bacteraemia and necrotising fasciitis (often complicated by the streptococcal toxic shock syndrome), and the post-streptococcal complications of acute rheumatic fever (ARF) and acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis (APSGN). These diseases may lead to further complications (e.g. ARF may cause rheumatic heart disease, which in turn may be further complicated by endocarditis or strokes).

All group A streptococcal diseases are most common in settings of poverty, where living conditions promote transmission of the organism, and prevention and treatment programs are less likely to be present or effective. These settings also rarely have efficient systems for collecting disease burden data.

Therefore, any attempt to measure the global burden of GAS diseases will be hindered by the breadth of information that is needed and the paucity of reliable information from countries where these diseases are most important. To our knowledge, there has been no attempt to pull such information together. The only GAS disease for which global disease burden estimates have been made is rheumatic heart disease (RHD). (1, 2)

We aimed to use existing data sources to estimate the global burden of GAS diseases, and to identify the most critical deficiencies in GAS disease burden data.

Methods

We conducted systematic reviews to find all published data relating to the burden of each GAS disease. We aimed to include only recent data, and population-based data where possible. For severe GAS diseases, we searched for publications after January 1 1985 in order to provide only the most recent data, while including many of the relevant studies that took place during the 1980s. We also aimed to include as many unpublished sources of GAS disease burden data from 1985 through 2002 as possible, by reviewing the proceedings of the 3-yearly meetings of the Lancefield International Symposia on Streptococci and Streptococcal Diseases, and contacting key opinion leaders in the field of GAS diseases to try to locate data from theses or other unpublished research projects. In addition, the World Health Organization library database was searched for all articles containing the same search terms as used in the Medline searches.

For streptococcal skin and upper respiratory infections, we extended the literature search back to January 1, 1980, in order to be able to include more studies.

SEARCH STRATEGIES

MEDLINE was searched via the PubMed search engine. The following searches were conducted. Aside from the date limits outlined above, no other limits were set.

- All fields: (rheumatic fever OR rheumatic heart disease) AND (incidence OR prevalence)
- All fields: (rheumatic fever OR rheumatic heart disease) AND (mortality OR cause of death OR burden of disease)
- All fields: glomerulonephritis AND (streptococcus OR streptococcal OR post-streptococcal OR poststreptococcal OR group A streptococcus) AND (incidence OR prevalence)
- All fields: (invasive OR bacteremia OR bacteraemia OR toxic shock syndrome OR necrotising fasciitis OR necrotizing fasciitis) AND (incidence OR prevalence) AND (group A streptococcus OR group A streptococcus OR streptococcus pyogenes)
- All fields: stroke AND (rheumatic fever OR rheumatic heart disease)
- All fields: endocarditis AND (rheumatic fever OR rheumatic heart disease)
- All fields: (impetigo OR pyoderma OR scabies) AND (incidence OR prevalence)
- All fields: (pharyngitis OR sore throat) AND (group A streptococcus) AND incidence
- All fields: developing country AND (mortality OR cause of death)
- All fields: (bacteremia OR bacteraemia) AND developing country

Abstracts were reviewed by 2 investigators, and those that seemed likely to offer population-based prevalence data were selected for review of the full article. Specific assumptions are outlined in the results section for each disease category.

REGIONS

Studies were categorised by geographical region. Regions were pre-determined according to presumed homogeneity of GAS disease rates (based on similarities in socio-economic status and/or ethnicity). The following regions were defined: Sub-Saharan Africa, Indian Subcontinent, People's Republic of China, other countries in Asia (excluding Japan), Latin America, Middle East and North Africa, Eastern Europe, Pacific Island countries and indigenous Australian and New Zealand, and Established Market Economies. The makeup of regions, and the WHO regions that they correspond to, is shown in Table 1.

Region as defined for this study	Regions from UN Population Division included*	Corresponding WHO region
Subsaharan Africa	Eastern Africa, Middle Africa, Central Africa, Southern Africa	AFRO, EMRO
South-Central Asia	South-central Asia	SEARO, EMRO
Asia other	Eastern Asia, South-eastern Asia, excluding China and Japan	SEARO, WPRO
Latin America	Caribbean, Central America, South America	PAHO
ME and Nth Africa	Northern Africa, Western Asia	EMRO
Eastern Europe	Eastern Europe	EURO
Pacific and indigenous Australia/NZ	Melanesia, Micronesia, Polynesia plus indigenous Australians and Maori/Pacific Islanders in New Zealand	WPRO
Established market economies	Japan, non-indigenous Australia and New Zealand, Northern Europe, Southern Europe, Western Europe, Northern America	PAHO, EURO, WPRO
China	(China)	WPRO

DENOMINATORS

Denominator population data were obtained from the United Nations Population Division 2002 projections (available on the internet at http://esa.un.org/unpp/).

SPECIFIC METHODS FOR RHD REVIEW

During the review, it became clear that the vast majority of RHD surveys have taken place in school-age children, so this age group became the reference point for further calculations. To extrapolate data from school-age children to other age groups, we also identified the few studies that described the prevalence of RHD in all ages.

Rheumatic heart disease inclusion criteria

For the calculation of RHD prevalence, we included only articles and reports that documented population-based data. These were mainly surveys – usually school-based – but also included data based on population-based registers. We gave preference to studies that reported the methods used, the denominator (population base for

registers, or number surveyed), and the numerator (number of RHD cases present or detected). In general, we did not include reports that cited prevalence rates without giving details about the method of data collection or the numbers in the numerator and denominator. However, where no other data were available for a region, such summary prevalence rates were used.

Extraction of data

The key data compiled for this study included the date and location of each study, the age group studied, the denominator (number of people surveyed, or population covered by registers), the numerator (number of cases of RHD found, or number of RHD cases registered), whether or not echocardiography was used to confirm RHD diagnoses, and the type of study (survey, or register-based).

Compilation of data

Overall prevalence rates for school-aged children were determined for each region by dividing the total denominator for all studies by the total number of RHD cases included or detected. A separate calculation was made, including only those studies that used echocardiography to confirm RHD cases. It has been demonstrated that clinical diagnosis of RHD is inaccurate, even in the most experienced hands, and may lead to two- or three-fold over-diagnosis of RHD. The calculated regional prevalence rate used for final calculations was that based on echoconfirmed studies only, except for those regions where there were no, or very few, studies in which echo was used. For those regions, the combined (echo and non-echo) prevalence rate was used.

The regional prevalence rate was then assumed to apply to the 5 to 14-year age group (the age group used in most of the studies). Therefore, the regional prevalence rate was multiplied by the population aged 5-14 years in that region to estimate the number of RHD cases.

Extrapolation to other age groups

Once the number of cases in the 5-14 year age group was calculated, we attempted to determine the fraction of total RHD cases (in all age groups) that this represented. To do this, we identified four studies that determined the prevalence of RHD in different age groups. Two of these studies listed the prevalence in Aboriginal Australians of all ages by age group in two regions; northern Australia and central Australia. (3, 4) The total number of cases in people aged ≥ 5 years from this study was divided by the total number of cases in people aged 5-14 years. This gave a fraction by which the estimated number of RHD cases in the 5-14 year age group from other studies could be multiplied to estimate the number of cases in people aged ≥ 5 years.

The third study listed RHD prevalences in an Indian population in the age groups <15, 15-24, and 25-34 years. (5) The prevalence of RHD in each age group was multiplied by the age-group specific population of India (from the United Nations Population Division website, above) to obtain an extrapolated total number of RHD cases in the Indian population aged 5-34 (assuming that the prevalence in those aged <5 was zero, and thus the <15 year prevalence applied to those aged 5-14). To estimate the number of cases aged >34 years, we applied an assumption from the Top End Australian Aboriginal study (which was the only study to document prevalences in all age groups). (3) We calculated the ratio of number of cases aged 15-34 to the number aged >34 from the Australian study, and applied that ratio to the Indian data. This allowed us to determine a final multiplication factor to be applied to the number of cases in 5-14 year age group, resulting in an estimate of the number of cases aged >14 years.

The fourth study surveyed a population of all ages >15 years in Myanmar. (6) Although this study did not include children 5-14 years as a reference point, we assumed that the prevalence in the 5-14 year age group was the same as in those aged 15-24 years (a conservative assumption, given that both the Australian and Indian studies, above, found higher prevalences in young adults than in children and adolescents). We then performed the same calculations as for the Indian study, using United Nations Population Division estimates of the Myanmar population in different age groups, to determine a multiplication factor to be applied to the number of cases in the 5-14 year age group in order to estimate the total number of RHD cases in the population.

Results

RHEUMATIC HEART DISEASE AND ACUTE RHEUMATIC FEVER

Prevalence of rheumatic heart disease

We found 57 studies that met our inclusion criteria. The summary data for each of these studies are listed in Appendix 1. Most regions had 7 or more studies included, but there was only one population-based study for each of Eastern Europe, China and Established Market Economies. Sufficient data were available to include only studies using echocardiographic confirmation of RHD lesions from all regions except Eastern Europe, Asia Other and China.

The highest calculated regional prevalences were found in Sub-Saharan Africa (5.7 per 1,000), the Pacific and Indigenous Australia and New Zealand (3.5 per 1,000) and South-Central Asia (2.2 per 1,000). Based on the regional prevalence data, we estimate that over 2.4 million children aged 5-14 years are affected with RHD (Table 2).

Extrapolation to all ages

Data from three studies that documented age-specific RHD prevalence rates confirm that the prevalence increases beyond the adolescent years, peaking in the third and fourth decades of life. This finding accords with the natural history of ARF and RHD. Although the peak incidence of first episodes of ARF occurs at approximately age 12 years, RHD is increasingly likely to develop after subsequent ARF recurrences. Moreover, RHD is a chronic disease. Survivors may retain heart lesions for many years, while new cases accumulate as a result of recurrent ARF episodes in older adolescents and young adults.

Data from northern Australian Aboriginals show that the prevalence rate in people aged 5-14 years (4.6 per 1,000) increased to 15.5 in those aged 15-24 years, 22.1 in those aged 25-34 years, and remained between 10 and 20 per 1,000 in all age groups over 34 years. (3) The overall prevalence in people aged >14 years was 17.6 per 1,000. The total number of cases aged 5-14 years was 38 whereas the total number of cases \geq 5 years was 346. These data suggest that, in the Aboriginal population, there are 9.1 times the number of RHD cases in people aged \geq 5 years as those aged <15 years. Similar data from Central Australian Aboriginals suggest that there are 7.2 times the number of RHD cases in people aged >15 years as there are in people aged 5-14 years (37 compared to 230 cases). (4)

This multiplication factor is supported by the Myanmar data, which included adults of all ages, including 470 aged ³56 yrs. (6) Although this study did not include children aged <15 years, it did find that the prevalence rates of RHD increased from 5.6 per 1,000 in those aged 15-24 yrs, to 26.4 in those aged 26-35 yrs, and 12.0 for those aged 36 yrs. Assuming that the prevalence rate in those aged 15-24 yrs also applied to those aged 5-14 yrs, and applying these prevalence rates to the overall Myanmar population, the conclusion is that there are 7.5 times as many people with RHD aged ³15 years as there are aged 5-14 years.

The Indian study only documented prevalence rates to the age of 35 years. In that study, the prevalence rates (per 1,000) were 5.2 (0-14 yrs), 16.6 (15-24 yrs), and 7.0 (25-35 yrs). Applying these prevalence rates to the age-

	Estimated RHD cases aged 5-14 yrs	1008207	734786	101822	136971	153679	40366	7744	33330	176576	2393482
	Esti RHD aged	10	73	10	13	15	4	7	က်	17	23(
	Population 5-14 yrs (thousands)	177244000	340530000	124677000	108278000	83956000	41076000	2185798	110621202	220226000	1208794000
ars	Calculated regional RHD prevalence (per thousand)	5.7	2.2	0.8	1.3	1.8	1.0	3.5	0.3	0.8	1.3
aged 5-14 ye	No. of RHD cases found	528	279	199	58	52	225	116	116	25	1598
es in children	No. in denominator (screened)	92823	129300	243668	45850	28408	228958	32742	385000	31180	1217929
t Disease cas	Types of studies used for calculations*	ш	Ш	∢	Ш	Ш	۷	ш	ш	∢	
Rheumatic Hear	Median (IQR) RHD prevalence (per thousand)	3.0 (2.7-6.4)	1.6 (1.3-2.4)	1.1 (0.8-1.3)	3.0 (2.0-4.1)	1.9 (0.8-2.4)	1.0	7.6 (2.7-13.5)	0.3	8.0	
ed number of	No. of studies (no. using echo)	14 (10)	14 (12)	(0) 9	7 (4)	7 (4)	1 (0)	7 (6)	1 (1)	1 (0)	
Table 2. Estimated number of Rheumatic Heart Disease cases in children aged 5-14 years	Region	Subsaharan Africa	South-Central Asia	Asia other	Latin America	ME and Nth Africa	Eastern Europe **	Pacific and indig Aust/NZ	Established market economies	China	Total

IQR, interquartile range
 E, only included studies using echocardiographic confirmation of RHD lesions; A, all studies included.
 E, only included studies using echocardiographic confirmation of RHD lesions; A, all studies included.
 For Eastern Europe, 1998 data from Romania were used, based on prevalence cited in regions where RHD registers not operating. Numerators and denominators not available. 1994 government statistics from Russia cite a prevalence of 5 per 1,000 in schoolchildren, but the more conservative Romanian estimate was used. See text for details and references

group specific population of India, there are 3.6 times as many RHD cases in people aged 15-34 years as in those aged 5-14 years (42576 cases compared to 11767 cases, respectively). The Australian study concluded that the number of cases in those aged >34 years was 0.52 times the number of cases in those aged 15-34 years. Applying this assumption to the Indian data, the number of cases in people aged >14 years is 5.5 times the number of cases aged 5-14 years.

We therefore present two estimates of the total number of cases of RHD globally. The first is a conservative estimate using the 5.5 multiplication factor derived from the Indian data. The second is a higher estimate, based on the 7.2 multiplication factor from Central Australia, which also approximates that from the Myanmar data. We have not calculated the upper-end estimate using the 9.1 multiplication factor from northern Australia. Using the 5.5 multiplication rate, we estimate that there are more than 15.5 million people alive with RHD (Table 3). The upper-range estimate based on a 7.2 multiplication rate is 19.8 million cases.

Table 3. Estimated global number of rheumatic heart disease cases — and inferred RHD prevalence - in all age groups

Age group and assumption	Estimated global number of RHD cases	Inferred all-age prevalence of RHD in Less Developed countries*
5-14 years (from Table 2)	2393482	
All ages, assuming 5.5 times the number of 5-14 yo cases in older age groups	15557632	2.5
All ages, assuming 7.2 times the number of 5-14 yo cases in older age groups	19626551	3.2

^{*} Assumes 79% of all RHD cases in Less Developed Countries (see text for details) and total population in Less Developed Countries is 4,876 million (from UN Population Division website).

Seventy-nine percent (1247 of 1588) of all RHD cases in the studies in Table 2 came from countries defined by the United Nations Population Division as "Less Developed" (all countries except the Established Market Economies plus Eastern Europe, by our definition). The total population of the Less Developed Countries is 4.876 billion (80% of the world's population). Therefore, our estimates of the total number of RHD cases correspond to all age prevalence rates in Less Developed Countries ranging from 2.5 to 3.2 per 1,000 (Table 3). This seems reasonable, based on 4 studies that documented all-age prevalences of RHD ranging from 0.3 to 6.4 in Indian populations (5, 7) to 11.8 and 12.5 in Aboriginal Australians. (3, 4)

Quality of RHD prevalence data

The data relating to the prevalence of RHD were the most comprehensive of all GAS diseases on a global scale. The number of studies and diversity of populations studied was sufficient for us to be confident about the regional prevalence estimates for Sub-Saharan Africa, the Pacific and Indigenous Australia and New Zealand, and South-Central Asia. Although fewer studies were found from Latin America and the Middle East and North Africa, the prevalence estimates from these regions accord with the anecdotal impressions of clinicians and public health physicians in those regions. Similarly, although only one study was found from an Established Market Economy, the prevalence of 0.3 per 1,000 accords with earlier data from more developed countries (8).

We are less confident about the estimates from Asia, China and Eastern Europe. Five of the six Asian studies came from the Philippines, and one came from Thailand. We suspect that these data underestimate the rate of RHD likely to be present in the less economically developed countries in Asia. In Myanmar, for example, a population-based survey of adults during the early 1990s (using echocardiographic confirmation) found an overall prevalence rate of RHD in those aged >15 years of 13.2 per 1,000, peaking at 52.9 per 1,000 in rural women aged 26-35 years. (6) These data are comparable to the rates found in Aboriginal Australians, where the prevalence of RHD in those aged e"15 years was 17.6 per 1,000 and the peak prevalence (27.5 per 1,000) occurred in people aged 30-34 years. (3) The prevalence of RHD in people aged 15-24 in the Myanmar study was 5.6 per 1,000 (9.7 per 1,000 in rural areas), suggesting that the prevalence in 5-14 year olds is likely to be substantially higher than the regional prevalence of 0.8 per 1,000 cited in Table 2. The only other Asian data we could find came from Indonesian Government statistics during 1986, which cited the overall prevalence of RHD at all ages as 0.12 per 1,000; the reliability of these data must be questioned. (9)

There was only one study from China, conducted as a pilot survey for the Global Programme for the Prevention of RF and RHD. (10) In a population of over 1 billion people, covering a wide geographic region and range of living and economic conditions, it is impossible to know how representative this survey was of the national prevalence of RHD. The only population-based data from Eastern Europe came from a report from Romania to the World Health Organization in 1999. (11) This report documented the success of register-based control programs in reducing rheumatic heart disease prevalence in selected parts of the country. Therefore, we used the prevalence rate from the earliest year of data collection in this report (1993), under the presumption that most countries in Eastern Europe do not operate coordinated RHD control programs so the rate at the commencement of the Romanian program may be most representative of the situation in the rest of Eastern Europe. However, 1994 Government statistics from Russia cited a prevalence rate of RHD in "children" as 5 per 1,000 (without specifying the data on which the rate was based), suggesting that the Romanian prevalence rate may be an underestimate for the region.

As an example of the effect of these underestimates, if the regional prevalence rates for Asia Other and China were double the rate cited in Table 2, and the prevalence rate from Russian Government statistics were used instead of that from Romania, the total number of RHD cases in children aged 5-14 years would increase by over 400,000 to 2.85 million, and the estimated number of RHD cases in all ages would range from 9.4 million (instead of 7.9 million) to 28.8 million (instead of 24.2 million).

The level of selection bias in each study was difficult to determine. Most studies used school-based screening; this would likely bias in favour of lower RHD prevalence, as the main risk factors for ARF (overcrowding, poverty) may also be associated with lower school attendance. Most surveys also took place in urban settings, which also would bias in favour of lower RHD prevalence, given the apparent higher risk to residents of rural areas. However, it is not possible to determine whether studies deliberately took place in regions with a presumed high prevalence of RHD. This may be the case, although some studies were based on population registers, others were community rather than school surveys, and others were of a large size, suggesting that this form of selection bias may not have dominated all studies.

Rheumatic heart disease prevalence in urban compared to rural areas

With some exceptions, most studies have found that residents of rural areas are at higher risk of RHD than urban residents, with the exception of slum dwellers who appear to have the highest risk of all (Table 4).

Table 4. Studies comparing risk of rheumatic heart disease in rural compared to urban residents, or in different socio-economic strata Year and reference Country Age Risk ratio for RHD Other findings related to group rural compared to socio-economic status urban Early 1990s (6) Myanmar >15 3.25 rural vs urban 1997 (12) Australia ΑII 2.1 rural vs urban 1997 (13) Samoa 5-17 1.9 rural vs urban Saudi Arabia 1.5 rural vs urban Late 1980s (14) 6-15 Mid 1990s (15, 16) India 5-16 1.8 rural vs urban RR 1.6 Urban Government schools vs private schools Government schools Early 1990s (17) Bangladesh 5-15 0.3 rural vs urban 1989-90 (18) Algeria 6-19 0.3 rural vs urban 6.8 slums vs other urban 1989-90 (19) India 5-15 RR 0.2 rural vs slums RR 3.6 1996 (20) Zaire 5-16 low SES vs upper SES Prevalence RHD: Early 1990s (21) India 6-16 Poor SES: 3.6 Average SES: 2.4 Good SES: 0.4 V good SES: 0.0

Incidence of acute rheumatic fever

Appendix 2 lists the studies that were found since 1980 that documented the incidence of ARF in children and adolescents (aged <20 years). The median incidences were calculated by region (Table 5). As noted below (under *Quality of ARF incidence data*) the resulting estimate of the annual number of ARF cases – over 336,000 – must be considered a very crude estimate, particularly for Sub-Saharan Africa, China, Asia other and South-Central Asia, where no or only one study was available. Ninety-five percent of ARF cases came from less developed countries (i.e. excluding Established Market Economies and Eastern Europe).

Not all first episodes of ARF occur in children aged 5-14 years. In the Aboriginal Australian population of the Northern Territory, 33% of all first episodes and 40% of all episodes occurred in people aged ³15 years. (3) In the 1940s, Schwentker found that 39% of all first episodes and 54% of all episodes occurred in people aged ³15 years. (22) Taking the more conservative Aboriginal estimates of the proportion of all episodes occurring in those aged ³15 years, the estimated annual number of ARF cases increases to 471,107.

It is also possible to estimate the number of new RHD cases occurring each year. The long-term USA/UK follow-up study of acute rheumatic fever patients found that 42% of all children with ARF had cardiac murmurs after 5 years of follow-up. (23) In the Aboriginal Australian population, 60% of those with a history of ARF subsequently developed RHD. (3) The 40% to 58% of people with ARF who will not develop RHD will still require secondary prophylaxis until age 21 years, according to American Heart Association guidelines. (24) The median age at diagnosis of first episodes of ARF is approximately 11 years, (25, 26) so it is reasonable to assume that cases of ARF without carditis will require an average of 10 years of secondary prophylaxis. Therefore, the number of cases

Table 5. Estimated annual number of acute rheumatic fever cases in children aged 5-14 years, and extrapolation to all ages

Region	Number of studies	Median incidence ARF (per 100,000)	Population aged 5-14 yrs	Annual number of cases of ARF
Subsaharan Africa*	0	13.4	177244000	23662
South-Central Asia	1	54.0	340530000	183886
Asia other	1	21.2	124677000	26432
Latin America	10	19.6	108278000	21222
ME and Nth Africa	10	13.4	83956000	11208
Eastern Europe	6	10.2	41076000	4169
Pacific and indig Aust/NZ	7	374.0	2185798	8175
Established market economies	3	10.0	110621202	11062
China*	0	21.2	220226000	46688
Total aged 5-14 yrs	38		1208794000	336505
Total all ages**				471107

Studies documented in Appendix 2. Where one publication detailed rates for different ethnic groups, geographic regions, or time period, these were included as separate studies.

of ARF without carditis presently requiring secondary prophylaxis is approximately ten times the number of new ARF cases each year that will not develop RHD (the remainder of ARF cases will develop RHD and are accounted for in the RHD prevalences, above).

Therefore, of the 471,107 new cases of ARF each year, we estimate that 60% will develop RHD; i.e. that there will be approximately 282,000 new cases of RHD each year. We also estimate that there are an additional 1.88 million people with a history of ARF but no carditis presently requiring secondary prophylaxis.

Quality of ARF incidence data

Because ARF is a relatively short-lived illness, and not all cases progress to RHD, determining ARF incidence requires an active surveillance system. Therefore, ARF incidence data are less available and less reliable than those for RHD prevalence. We found no studies of ARF incidence from China or Subsaharan Africa, and only one study from each of Indian Subcontinent and Asia Other. The incidence data from the remaining regions are more reliable. The incidence in the Pacific and Indigenous Australia and New Zealand region rely entirely on studies in Aboriginal Australians, Maori and Pacific Islander New Zealanders, and Samoans living in Hawaii. The lack of studies in other Pacific Islands raises questions about the generalisability of these results throughout the Pacific, but the high ARF incidence accords with the high RHD prevalence found in this region.

Overall, there is a paucity of high quality prospective studies of ARF incidence from less developed countries.

^{*} No studies available. For Sub-Saharan Africa, median incidence from Middle East and North Africa used. For China, incidence for Asia other used.

^{**} Assumes 40% of all ARF cases occur >14 years of age (see text for details).

Prevalence of a history of acute rheumatic fever without rheumatic heart disease

People who have had ARF but not developed RHD should have no ongoing health problems related to their previous ARF, as carditis is the only potential permanent sequel of ARF (with the exception of occasional cases of chorea that may last up to two or three years). (27) However, this history has implications for their health care and lifestyle, because of the need for them to take secondary prophylaxis for many years in order to prevent ARF recurrences and the associated development of RHD. This is mentioned above.

Mortality from Acute Rheumatic Fever and Rheumatic Heart Disease

Mortality from these diseases is difficult to quantify. In the regions where ARF and RHD are most common, cause-specific mortality data collection is usually non-existent or unreliable. To verify this, crude mortality rates (CMR) were calculated from a number of selected countries using death data registered with the World Health Organization Mortality Database (Table 6). The only sub-Saharan African country reporting to this database is South Africa. Very few of the world's poorest countries report data. Although the highest ARF/RHD CMRs came from Kazakhstan and Romania, the next highest rates came from the United Kingdom and Japan. These countries had higher CMRs for ARF/RHD than any Latin American country. Although ARF and RHD rates have fallen in recent years in Latin American countries, it is hard to envisage that the mortality from these diseases is likely to be several-fold lower in Latin America than in countries that have had low rates of ARF and RHD for several decades. These data attest to the unreliability of Government mortality reporting in measuring death rates due to ARF and RHD. The other main method of mortality data collection in less developed countries, verbal autopsy, does not help, as it is unable to separate out causes of deaths due to specific cardiac diseases.

Table 6. Calculated all age crude mortality rates from acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease (combined causes) in selected countries

Country	Year	Deaths due to ARF or RHD*	Population** (thousands)	ARF / RHD Crude mortality rate
Brazil	1995	1665	171,796	1.0
Dominican Republic	1998	37	8,353	0.4
Japan	1999	2576	127,034	2.0
Kazakhstan	1999	786	15,640	5.0
Mexico	2000	1301	98,933	1.3
Nicaragua	2000	41	5,073	0.8
Panama	2000	24	2,950	0.8
Romania	2000	737	22,480	3.3
South Africa	1996	537	44,000	1.2
UK	1999	1857	58,689	3.2
USA	1999	3676	285,003	1.3
Uruguay	2000	30	3,342	0.9
Venezuela	2000	194	24,277	0.8

 ^{*} Cause specific deaths from World Health Organization Mortality Database (http://www3.who.int/whosis/) accessed March 31, 2003

^{**} Population estimates from United Nations Population Division Website (http://esa.un.org/unpp/).

Therefore, there are two reasonable approaches to measuring ARF and RHD mortality. One could rely on natural history studies of ARF and RHD outcome, applying the expected death rates to the number of existing cases to estimate the total number of deaths each year. Alternatively, one could extrapolate cause-specific mortality rates from the few studies in less developed countries that have measured this with some rigor.

There are few long-term follow up studies of patients with RHD, on which to base estimates of expected death rates. Most occurred in the United States or United Kingdom in the early to mid 1960s. In a study from Boston, 40% of 653 cases of RHD diagnosed between 1921 and 1931 had died after 20 years of follow-up (an average of 2% per year), the vast majority from ARF or RHD-related causes. (28) A separate study from New York followed 1042 children diagnosed with RHD prior to the age of 15 years, and found, after a total of over 15,000 person-years of follow-up, an average of 1.47% died per year, 1.26% of cardiac causes. (29) A subsequent follow-up of 757 of these same children who survived until age 20 years demonstrated that after over 9,300 person-years of observation, an average of 0.83% died each year. (30) Seventy-eight percent of all deaths were due to cardiac causes. A later collaborative USA / UK report was published of a cohort of 497 children who were treated either with ACTH, cortisone or aspirin in the initial phase of their ARF. (31) After 10 years, 84.5% of the initial cohort were able to be followed-up, and 19 (3.8% of the initial cohort, 4.5% of those whose status was known) had died of RF or RHD. Fourteen of the 19 (74%) RHD deaths occurred in the first 5 years of follow-up.

The first two studies took place in the first half of the 20th Century, at a time when most patients did not have access to modern prevention or therapy, and suggest that between 1% and 2% of patients with RHD can be expected to die each year. The third study, which suggests a lower mortality rate of approximately 0.5% per year, occurred later, when secondary prophylaxis was already available and medical interventions had improved somewhat.

It is difficult to know how comparable these results are to the prognosis in less developed countries currently. Although the impact of medical interventions may be similar in the two settings (in that these interventions were not widely available in the USA or UK in the early to mid-1900s, and they are still not widely available in less developed countries today), the general standards of living, frequency of ARF recurrences, and access to other forms of medical care (which is clearly associated with ARF incidence (32)) are likely to be very different, and favour a worse prognosis currently in less developed countries. This is supported by a small follow up study in Aboriginal Australians, in which 24% of 33 Aboriginal children with RHD had died after approximately 12 years of follow-up (an average of approximately 2% per year).

Data from four Asian countries (Japan, Thailand, Indonesia and Taiwan) from patients studied between the 1940s and 1970s found that the mortality rates during the 1970s of those who did not receive secondary prophylaxis varied from 0.5% per year (Thailand) to 3.4% per year (Taiwan) up to an astonishing 8.4% per year in Indonesia. (33) In the few cases that did receive secondary prophylaxis, the mortality was 0% in Japan, and 0.6% per year in Taiwan.

Therefore, it is conservative to estimate that, in less developed countries where secondary prophylaxis is usually not delivered and medical and surgical therapy of RHD is usually not available, an average of 1.5% of patients with RHD will die each year. Based on this assumption, the number of RHD deaths each year ranges from over 230,000 to almost 300,000 (Table 7).

Table 7. Estimated global deaths due to rheumatic heart disease each year, based on estimates of mortality rates of existing RHD patients

Estimate of RHD cases (from Table 3)	Estimated global number of RHD cases	Number of RHD deaths each year (assuming 1.5% per year)
Low-range estimate	15557632	233364
High-range estimate	19626551	294398

We found no reliable, population-based studies of cause-specific ARF/RHD mortality from less developed countries (Table 8). Most data come from more developed countries, or rely on Government statistics, which are likely to be unreliable in less developed countries.

In order to gain a reasonable estimate of numbers of deaths due to ARF/RHD, we found three studies that compared the RHD age-standardised mortality rates (SMR) of indigenous, high RHD prevalence populations living in the same geographical region as non-indigenous, low RHD prevalence populations. This technique adjusts for the different age structure of the two types of population (one with high birth and mortality rates and thus a younger population, the other with low birth and mortality rates and thus an ageing population). These studies came from New Zealand, Alaska and Australia. (34-36) The SMRs for the indigenous populations ranged from 8.5 to 30.2, and those for the non-indigenous populations ranged from 1.1 to 4.2. We chose to use the SMRs from New Zealand – 2.0 and 9.6 for non-indigenous and indigenous, respectively – to represent reasonable middle-range estimates for RHD mortality in more developed and less developed countries. Note that the prevalence of RHD in the New Zealand Maori population is moderate to high, but that mortality rates may be expected to be modified by good access to secondary prophylaxis and medical and surgical care. Therefore, the RHD SMR in New Zealand Maori may underestimate the overall less developed country RHD mortality rates.

Applying the New Zealand SMR estimates to denominator data from the UN World Population web site for more developed countries (population 1.194 billion, calculated RHD deaths per year 23,877) and for less developed countries (population 4.877 billion, calculated RHD deaths per year 468,164), we estimate a total of 492,042 deaths per year due to RHD, which is slightly more than the higher-range estimates from Table 7. These estimates are also consistent with the 385,000 deaths due to RHD projected to occur in 2000, from the Global Burden of Disease exercise,(1) and the 338,000 deaths from RHD estimated to occur during 2001 in the World Health Report 2002. (2)

In considering ARF and RHD mortality, it should also be kept in mind that most deaths due to these causes occur in childhood or early adulthood. In the Aboriginal Australian population, the mean age of death due to ARF or RHD was 35.7 years, compared to 67.3 years for non-Aboriginal ARF/RHD deaths. (36) It has been projected that ARF/RHD caused 6.1 million years of potential life lost before age 70 during 1990, 5.5 million of which occurred in less developed countries. (36) The 2002 World Health Report estimated that RHD accounted for 6.1 million disability-adjusted life years lost during 2001. (2)

Quality of ARF/RHD mortality data

Reliable cause-specific mortality data relating to ARF and RHD are only available from indigenous populations living in relative poverty in wealthy countries. We could find no reliable ARF/RHD mortality data from any less developed country. Therefore, the mortality estimates presented here are open to question. The fact that mid-

Table 8. Published crude or age-standardised mortality rates from rheumatic heart disease with or without acute rheumatic fever

Ref	Year of mortality estimate	Place	Age	Crude mortality rate (per 100,000 per year)	Age-standardised mortality rate (per 100,000 per year)
(37)	1988	USA	All		1.7
(38)	1982-90	Valencia, Spain	All		3.2 to 4.7 in males 7.6 to 9.5 in females
(34)	1985-1987	New Zealand Maori	All		9.6
(34)	1985-1987	New Zealand Non- Maori	All		2.0
(35)	1979-1988	Alaska Native	All		8.5
(35)	1979-1988	Alaska Non-Native	All		4.2
(36)	1979-96	Australia, Aboriginal	All		30.2
(36)	1979-96	Australia, non- Aboriginal	All		1.1
(39)	mid-1980s	Spain	All	~ 3	
(40)	1991-95	Sao Paolo, Brazil	Women 15-49	1.63	
(41)	1987	Havana, Cuba	All	2.0	
(9)	1986	Indonesia	All	2.1 (principal cause) 3.1 (associated cause)	
(42)	1990	China	All	7.7 (rural) 7.9 (urban)	

range estimates from indigenous prospective studies are similar to high-range estimates from natural history studies provides some support to the mortality estimates. However, there is a clear need for better ARF / RHD mortality data.

Other data relating to rheumatic heart disease

During the search, we encountered numerous studies that presented non-population based data relating to rheumatic heart disease burden (Appendix 3). Most of these were hospital-based studies of the cause or severity of hospitalizations, or cause of death studies. Although little can be inferred from these studies in terms of overall disease burden, the number of studies and consistency of findings from less developed countries suggest that RHD remains a prominent cardiac cause of presentation and admission to hospital. These studies also highlight the young age at which RHD causes cardiac disease, and that in less developed countries RHD remains the most common acquired heart disease in children, adolescents and young adults hospitalized or seen by specialist cardiology services (and in many cases is the most common cardiac disease in childhood; more common even than congenital heart disease). They also attest to the continuing problem of RHD causing heart failure and death in pregnant women in less developed countries. These findings were particularly prominent in hospital based studies from Sub-Saharan Africa and parts of Asia (particularly Malaysia).

Other RHD-related morbidity and mortality

Infective endocarditis

Infective endocarditis (IE) occurs predominantly in previously-damaged valves, and there is good evidence that the major underlying cause in less developed countries is RHD. We found 11 studies published since 1980 that documented the proportion of IE due to RHD in less developed countries (Appendix 4). RHD was responsible for a median of 63% of all IE cases in less developed countries, and was the most common underlying cause of IE in all of these studies. There was no obvious difference in the RHD-related proportion between studies performed in children compared to those in adults. IE had a median mortality rate of 25% in the 5 less developed country studies where this was documented. By contrast, we found 3 similar studies from more developed countries; RHD underlay a median of 5% of IE cases in these studies, and mortality rates were not stated.

Unfortunately, we found only one population-based study documenting the incidence of IE. This study, from Israel, found an incidence of IE in adults of 1.2 cases per 100,000 per year. (43) Applying this incidence to less developed countries is likely to underestimate the burden of IE, as the overall standards of living and access to preventive health care in Israel are substantially better than in most less developed countries. Nevertheless, applying this assumed incidence, and the median proportion of IE cases due to RHD (65%) and IE mortality (25%) from less developed countries, we estimate that over 33,000 RHD-related IE cases occur each year in less developed countries, and that these lead to over 8,000 deaths (Table 9). A small additional number of RHD-related IE cases and deaths are likely to occur each year in more developed countries. (43) As we could find no incidence data on which to base these estimates and their overall contribution to global disease burden is likely to be very small, we have not included more developed country estimates here.

Table 9. Estimated number of rheumatic heart disease-related infective endocarditis cases and deaths in less developed countries per year				
Calculation	Assumption	Estimate		
Population aged >5 years		4326130000		
Annual number of IE cases	Incidence 1.2 per 100,000 per yr	51914		
Annual number of RHD-related IE cases	RHD underlies 65% of IE cases	33744		
Annual number of RHD-related IE deaths	IE mortality 25%	8436		

Stroke

Strokes may sometimes be due to underlying RHD, with thromboses occurring on affected valves or as a result of atrial fibrillation leading to emboli to the brain. The Global Burden of Disease study estimated that, during 1990, 6.08 million people suffered their first stroke, 30.9 million people were alive with a history of stroke, and 4.4 million people died from stroke. (44) Seventy nine percent of all first strokes (4.8 million) and 82% of all stroke deaths (3.6 million) were estimated to occur in less developed countries. Twenty-four percent of all strokes in the USA are due to emboli, most of which originate from the heart. (45) In Saudi Arabia, cardiac emboli were the cause of 19% of strokes, and in a separate study, 9.6% of all stroke cases had underlying RHD. (46, 47) In Argentina, over 20% of all embolic stroke cases had underlying RHD, (48) and in Serbia RHD was a risk factor in 4% of all strokes. (49) An autopsy study in India found that 25% of all strokes were embolic, and that RHD and infective endocarditis were the main precipitants. (50) A separate Indian study found that 10% of all ischaemic strokes were cardio-embolic,

and that RHD and coronary artery disease were responsible for most of these. (51) Even in Japan, 33% of cardioembolic stroke patients aged 65 to 74 years had underlying RHD. (52) A comparative study found that 23% of all ischaemic strokes in adults aged <50 years in Thailand were related to underlying RHD, compared to only 2% in the Netherlands. (53)

It is likely therefore that RHD is associated with at least 4%, and possibly 10% or more of all strokes in less developed countries. If so, this represents between 192,000 and 480,000 new strokes, and between 144,000 and 359,000 stroke deaths each year in less developed countries. There are no data to determine the proportion of these strokes that would not have occurred in the absence of RHD, although embolic strokes in patients with RHD are usually considered to be directly related to the valvular heart disease or associated atrial fibrillation. Taking a conservative estimate of 75%, we estimate that RHD causes 144,000 to 360,000 strokes and 108,000 to 269,000 stroke deaths each year in less developed countries alone. Several thousand more stroke cases and deaths each year in more developed countries are also likely to be due to RHD. If we also estimate that RHD is responsible for the same proportion of strokes in stroke survivors (75% of 4%, or 3%), then RHD was the causative factor in approximately 640,000 of the estimated 21.4 million stroke survivors in less developed countries. (44)

ARF-RHD related morbidity and mortality not included here

Other complications of RHD not included in these calculations are those due to cardiac surgery on RHD affected valves (perioperative mortality, thrombo-embolic, infective and mechanical complications), and complications of anticoagulation therapy and anti-cardiac failure therapy. These have not been included because there are very few data on which to base morbidity and mortality estimates.

Quality of other RHD-related morbidity and mortality

As noted above, the burden of RHD-related IE and stroke has been largely neglected in the past, and has not been quantified by any good population-based studies. The contribution of RHD to stroke cases and deaths in less developed countries is potentially enormous. The estimates included here are based on conservative assumption, and serve to highlight the possible size of the problem and the need for better data.

OTHER GROUP A STREPTOCOCCAL DISEASES (NOT INCLUDING ARF/RHD)

Acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis

We found 11 population-based studies documenting the incidence of APSGN; 3 in more developed countries, 3 in more developed countries but with separate documentation of rates in indigenous minority populations, and 5 in less developed countries (Appendix 5). Of the more developed country studies, two were based only on biopsy-proven diseases and included only or mainly adults, so are therefore substantial under-estimates of the true disease incidence. (54-56) The third came from Singapore; (57) although this country is economically more developed, the populations it contains include some with a relatively high risk for streptococcal diseases and the APSGN incidence was >10 per 100,000, so this rate was included in the less developed country studies. The best indicator of APSGN incidence in children in more developed countries came from the Australian and New Zealand studies, (58-60) in which the incidence in non-indigenous children was approximately 6 per 100,000 per year.

The median APSGN incidence in children from less developed country studies (including Singapore, NZ Maori, NZ Pacific Islander, and Aboriginal Australian studies) was 24.3 per 100,000 per year. The incidence in adults in

either less or more developed countries is not well documented. Using data from Kuwait on the incidence of APSGN in children (17.8 per 100,000) and at all ages (6.7 per 100,000) and also using UN World Population denominator data for Kuwait, we calculated an estimated incidence in people aged ³15 years in Kuwait of 3.9 per 100,000. (61) In order to be conservative in estimating the number of APSGN cases, we chose to assume that the incidence of APSGN in people aged ³15 years was half of the calculated Kuwait rate - 2 per 100,000 - in less developed countries and 0.3 per 100,000 in more developed countries (based on the Italian biopsy study).(54)

Applying these estimated incidences (24.3 per 100,000 in less developed countries and 2.0 per 100,000 in more developed countries) to the populations of those regions, we estimate that over 470,000 cases of APSGN occur annually, 97% in less developed countries (Table 10).

Region	APSGN incidence in children*	Population aged <15 y (thousands)	Annual number of APSGN cases in children	APSGN incidence in adults*	Population aged >5 y (thousands)	Annual number APSGN cases in adults	Total APSGN cases all ages
Less developed countries	24.3	1609317	391064	2	3267392	65348	456412
More developed countries	6	218859	13132	0.3	975013	2925	16057
Total		1828176	404196		4242405		472468

Mortality and complications from APSGN

The mortality from APSGN is said to be less than 0.5%, less than 2.0% of patients progress to end stage renal disease, and most of the deaths and cases of chronic disease occur in adults and/or after sporadic disease, whereas the majority of APSGN cases occur in children and/or epidemics. (62) Our review supported most of these statements. A number of studies found that children with APSGN may have high rates of encephalopathy, hypertension and renal failure in the short term, but that all recovered in the long-term without residual renal impairment. (63-66) Of these studies, only one reported any deaths in the acute phase; a study from India in which 1.4% of children hospitalized with APSGN died. (65) However, a number of other studies reported substantial mortality from APSGN. A Nigerian study reported that approximately 6% of APSGN cases in children progressed to acute renal failure, and that approximately 2% died of this complication. (67) A study from Iran found that 2% of APSGN cases in children progressed to chronic renal impairment. (68) Another study from India found that 6% of children with APSGN died of renal failure in the short term, but none of the survivors had long-term renal insufficiency (compared to adults with APSGN, in whom 28% died of renal causes or had end-stage renal failure after a mean of 4.8 years). (69)

Evidence to support an association of APSGN with chronic renal failure has been building in recent years. A number of other follow-up studies have documented high rates of chronic renal failure in adults with APSGN. (70,

71) More recently, childhood APSGN has been found to increase the risk of later chronic renal impairment in Aboriginal Australians, with odds ratios of 4.8 to 6.0. (72, 73) Although it is possible that the contribution of APSGN to chronic renal disease may prove to be substantial, the evidence is not yet sufficient to make definitive conclusions.

Because the mortality and long-term sequelae of APSGN have been poorly documented in most settings, we conservatively assumed that 1% of people with APSGN die each year, either in the acute phase or from long-term renal failure.

Quality of APSGN data

The overall quality of APSGN incidence data was poor, and there were very few studies from low-income countries where the incidence is likely to be higher than in middle-income countries such as Chile and Kuwait. Moreover, APSGN may occur in devastating epidemics, which may not be accounted for in surveillance studies over defined periods of time. Mortality data, and long-term follow-up studies, provide conflicting evidence about the severity of this disease. Conservative estimates of incidence, mortality and prognosis have been used here, so the burden of APSGN is likely to be greater than reflected in the above figures. There is a need for better studies of the epidemiology of APSGN and its relationship to chronic renal failure in less developed countries.

Invasive group A streptococcal disease

We found 16 published studies documenting the incidence and 13 documenting the case fatality rate of invasive GAS diseases in non-indigenous populations in more developed countries (Appendix 6). Three studies documented the incidence in indigenous populations in the USA and Australia. We found only one population-based study of invasive GAS infections in a less developed country; an unpublished study from Kenya (which has since been published).(74)Over a four-year period 1998-2002, they documented 48 cases of GAS sepsis in 16,570 admitted children aged <15 yrs. The incidence of GAS bacteraemia in neonates was 0.55 per 1,000 live births, and in children under 1 year, 2 years and 5 years was 96, 63 and 29 per 100,000, respectively. GAS was the 3rd most common cause of neonatal bacteraemia, the most common cause of bacteraemia in infants aged 7-59 days, and the 5th most common cause of community acquired bacteraemia in children aged <1 year and <5 years. The overall incidence of GAS bacteraemia in children aged <15 years was 13 per 100,000, with a 25% case fatality rate (J Berkley, personal communication).

The high incidence of invasive GAS disease in young infants in Kenya reinforces the findings of the recent WHO Young Infants Study, which found that GAS was one of the three leading causes of bacteraemia in children aged <90 days, accounting for 29% of all positive isolates in four less developed countries (Papua New Guinea, Ethiopia, The Gambia and The Philippines). (75) GAS sepsis in neonates is usually due to colonisation or infection acquired in the birth canal. These data suggest that GAS puerperal sepsis and septic abortion are likely also to remain common in less developed countries, although we could find no data to relating to this. This would accord with the overall profile of GAS diseases in less developed countries; the common manifestations of disease (ARF, APSGN, pyoderma) are those that were also common in more developed countries a century or more ago, when living conditions were similar to those in less developed countries now. (8)

Based on passive bacteraemia surveillance in Fiji, the minimum incidence of GAS bacteraemia in all age groups between 2000-2003 was 11.2 per 100,000 and 8.7 per 100,000 in children aged <15 years, with the highest rates found in children aged <5 and 84.9 in adults aged ≥65 years (23.1 and 84.9 per 100,000, respectively). (unpublished data from our group) The Fijian data and studies from other groups suggest that, although incidence of invasive

GAS infections peaks in young children and the elderly, the overall incidence in children aged <15 years approximates the incidence in all ages. (76-81)

In calculating the estimated numbers of cases and deaths due to invasive GAS infections, we used the median incidence and mortality rates from the more developed country estimates. We separately used three estimates for less developed countries; low (using the same incidence and mortality rates from more developed countries), middle (using the rates from the Kenyan study), and high (using the median incidence rates from the USA and Australian indigenous populations and the mortality rate from the Kenyan study). Assuming the middle estimate for less developed countries, we estimate that there are over 660,000 cases of invasive GAS infections each year (97% from less developed countries), and over 160,000 deaths (Table 12). These estimates do not account for premature mortality, or the considerable disability that may occur in survivors, particularly amputations, disfigurement and other complications that may follow necrotising fasciitis.

Table 12.	Estimated number of cases and deaths due to invasive group A	
streptoco	ccal diseases	

Region	Population (thousands)	Incidence rate (per 100,000 per yr)	Annual number of cases	Mortality rate	Annual number of deaths
More developed countries	1193872	2.45*	29250	0.15*	4387
Less developed countries	4876709				
- Low estimate		2.45*	119479	0.15*	17922
- Middle estimate		13.00**	633972	0.25**	158493
- High estimate		46.00***	2243286	0.25***	560822
Total (using middle estimate)			663222		162881

- * Median rates from studies in more developed populations listed in Appendix 5.
- ** From Kilifi, Kenya data (see text for details).
- *** Median incidence from studies in indigenous populations in USA and Australia (see text for details).

Quality of invasive disease data

Overall, the incidence and mortality of invasive GAS diseases have been very well studied in more developed countries, and the resulting estimates of cases and deaths in those countries can be made confidently. There have been very few good quality population-based studies in poor settings or less developed countries. Importantly the few high quality data from surveillance studies in settings of poverty (in Native Americans, indigenous Australians, and the WHO and Kenyan studies) support the contention that invasive disease is more common and more severe in less developed countries. These data suggest that invasive GAS diseases may affect many hundreds of thousands or even millions of people in less developed countries each year, and cause several hundred thousand deaths. However, these statements cannot be made confidently until better data are available.

Superficial group A streptococcal diseases

Pyoderma

The 24 population based studies since 1980 documenting the prevalence of pyoderma are listed in Appendix 7, together with the prevalence of scabies where this was stated. These data suggest that, as with RHD, the highest prevalences of pyoderma occurred in Aboriginal Australians and Pacific Island nations. Most, but not all, populations with high pyoderma prevalence also had high prevalence rates of scabies. Although children had the highest prevalences of pyoderma and scabies, these diseases were also common in adults in many studies. On the whole, pyoderma prevalence ranged from approximately 1% to 20% in most less developed countries, but prevalences of 40% to 90% were found in Pacific regions. These studies and some additional studies documenting only scabies, suggest scabies prevalence ranging from approximately 1% to 10% in African and Asian countries, to 50% to 80% in the Pacific region. (82-87)

The median pyoderma prevalence in children in the studies listed in Appendix 6 is 58% in Pacific and Aboriginal Australian studies, and 7% in the remaining studies. Applying these prevalences to children aged <15 years in less developed countries, we estimate that over 111 million children aged <15 years have pyoderma in less developed countries at any one time. This excludes pyoderma in adults and in adults or children in more developed countries.

Pharyngitis

There were very few recent population based studies documenting the incidence of GAS pharyngitis. The most comprehensive studies came from the USA during the 1950s and 1960s, documenting incidences of serologically-proven symptomatic GAS pharyngitis ranging from 0.15 to 0.22 per person-year in children and approximately 0.06 per person-year in adults. (88-90) A further prospective study of 678 people in Egypt during 1967 to 1969 documented an incidence of serologically proven GAS pharyngitis of 0.42 per person year in children aged 2 to 4 years, 0.31 in children aged 6 to 12 years, and 0.10 in adults aged >25 years. (91) However, most of these infections were asymptomatic; the authors commented that the occurrence of typical exudative pharyngitis was rare. Other data suggest that acute pharyngitis is one of the most common illnesses for which patients seek medical advice in more developed countries, accounting for nearly 18 million office visits in 1996 and over 7 million visits to paediatricians each year in the United States. (92, 93) In Australia, 4% of all symptomatic presentations to general practitioners are for throat complaints, second only to cough at 7%, and sore throat consultations result in an antibiotic prescription in 89% of cases. (94, 95) GAS is the most common bacterial cause and is estimated to account for 15-30% of cases of pharyngitis in children and 5-10% of cases in adults. (96, 97)

	13. Recent ococcal pha		ased studies	of the incide	nce of symptomat	ic group A
Ref	Year	Place	Age	Number of subjects	GAS pharyngitis incidence (per person-year)	Serological confirmation
(98)	1988	Kuwait	5-14	28,920	0.03	No
(99)	1995-96	India	5-15	536	0.95	No
(100)	1998	New Zealand	School age	~24,000	0.50	No
(101)	2001-02	Australia	All	852	0.14 <18 yrs 0.04 >18 yrs	Yes

We found only four population-based studies after 1980 (Table 13). Three of these took place in populations where ARF is also common; in a predominantly Maori and Pacific Islander region of Auckland, New Zealand, in Kuwait and in northern India. (98-100) In these populations, sore throat with a positive throat swab for GAS occurred once every one to two years in each child. These infections were not confirmed using serology, so the true incidence will be somewhat lower. Only one study came from an affluent population; a study from Melbourne, Australia, which found an incidence of serologically proven symptomatic GAS pharyngitis of 0.14 per child-year. [Danchin, 2004 #1345] This suggests that the incidence has not changed dramatically in similar settings since the studies half a century earlier in the USA.

Therefore, it seems reasonable to conclude that approximately 15% of school-age children will suffer a symptomatic episode of GAS pharyngitis each year in more developed countries, and that 4-10% of adults will be similarly affected. The incidence in less developed countries may be five to ten times greater. Assuming that the incidence from the New Zealand study is representative of the incidence in school aged children in less developed countries, and also assuming that 80% of GAS culture-positive sore throats would be proven serologically (reducing the incidence from 0.5 to 0.4 per child-year), we estimate that over 600 million cases of symptomatic GAS pharyngitis occur annually, and that over 550 million of these occur in less developed countries (Table 14).

Table 14. pharyngit		annual num	iber of case	es of sympt	tomatic gro	up A strepto	ococcal
Region	Incidence in children (per person-yr)	Population 5-14 years (thousands)	Annual cases in children (thousands)	Incidence in adults (per person- yr)	Population >14 years (thousands)	Annual cases in adults (thousands)	Annual cases all ages (thousands)
Less developed countries	0.4	1058738	423495	0.04	3267392	130696	554191
More developed countries	0.15	152233	22835	0.04	975013	39000	61835
Total		1210971	446330		4242405	169696	616026

Quality of superficial disease data

Pyoderma prevalence is affected by many climatic and other environmental factors, so rates may vary substantially between and within countries. This is exemplified by the dramatic variation in prevalence rates in Appendix 7. As a result, one cannot be confident of the generalisability of these results. This highlights the need for more prevalence surveys in different rural, urban, tropical, temperate, coastal and inland settings in less developed countries. In addition, cross-sectional surveys do not give any indication of the incidence of these infections or duration of lesions and transmissibility.

Prospective studies of GAS pharyngitis incidence are difficult to conduct. They require cohort retention, swabbing and, ideally, serological confirmation of infection. There are very few of these studies available, and none of good quality from less developed countries. A small number of high-quality studies is needed.

SUMMARY

By combining the low-range estimate for RHD prevalence, the middle-range estimate for invasive disease, and our other estimates, we conclude that approximately 18.1 million people currently suffer from a serious group A streptococcal disease, another 1.78 million new cases occur each year, and these diseases are responsible for over 500,000 deaths each year (Table 15). Added to this are over 111 million prevalent cases of streptococcal pyoderma, and 616 million new cases of GAS pharyngitis each year.

We have used relatively conservative assumptions at each step, so these are minimum summary estimates of the burden of GAS diseases. Moreover, we have not attempted to include a number of conditions whereby GAS contributes to serious disease (e.g. complications of RHD cardiac surgery, complications of medical therapy for cardiac failure due to RHD, infections with resistant bacteria as a result of antibiotic use for GAS pharyngitis and impetigo), nor do they attempt to quantify the costs of these diseases, so the true burden of disease is not completely represented in Table 15.

Table 15. Summar	v of estimated o	global burden of o	aroup A stre	ntococcal diseases
iabic zoi oaiiiiiai	or communication	Jiobai bai acii ci	71 O G P / L O G C	peococcai aiscases

Disease	Number of existing cases	Number of new cases each year	Number of deaths each year
Rheumatic heart disease	15.6 million	282,000*	233,000**
History of acute rheumatic fever without carditis, requiring secondary prophylaxis	1.88 million	188,000*	
RHD-related infective endocarditis		34,000	8,000
RHD-related stroke	640,000	144,000	108,000
Acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis	-	472,000	5,000
Invasive group A streptococcal diseases		663,000	163,000
Total severe cases	18.1 million	1.78 million	517,000
Pyoderma	111 million		
Pharyngitis		616 million	

All estimates rounded off. Note that these estimates assume constancy of incidence and prevalence over time.

- * New RHD cases were calculated based on the proportion of incident ARF cases expected to develop RHD. The remainder of incident ARF cases are included in the "History of ARF without carditis" row. Therefore, the total number of new ARF cases each year is 282,000 + 188,000 = 470,000.
- ** Includes ARF deaths. RHD deaths are based on proportion of existing RHD cases expected to die each year.
- No attempt has been made to quantify the prevalence of APSGN-induced chronic renal impairment or end-stage renal failure

Discussion

These estimates suggest that GAS causes a substantial burden of disease and death on a global scale. This is not surprising, given that all of these diseases are related to poverty, and hence are most common in less developed countries, and that GAS causes such a broad spectrum of acute and chronic disease.

We have not attempted to estimate the proportion of these cases and deaths that is potentially preventable. In a separate report on strategies for control of group A streptococcal disease, the ability to prevent the majority of RHD cases and deaths using secondary prophylaxis programs is highlighted. Such programs would also be expected to prevent most cases of RHD-related IE and stroke. That report also outlines the availability of successful strategies to control skin infections, which would also be expected to prevent many cases of APSGN and invasive GAS diseases. Primary prevention of ARF remains a vexed question, and the report on control strategies identifies a number of related critical issues, including the need to evaluate healthy-skin programs compared to management of throat-infections as potential measures to prevent ARF.

We have identified many areas where the data are deficient, particularly from less developed countries. The paucity of good-quality data relating to ARF incidence, APSGN incidence, ARF/RHD mortality, invasive GAS disease incidence in less developed countries, and RHD-related IE and stroke means that there is considerable uncertainty surrounding the estimates presented here. However, at each step we have attempted to make assumptions that tend to under-estimate rather than over-estimate the burden of disease. The estimates presented here relate to numbers of cases and deaths. GAS causes disease predominantly in children and young adults, so the burden to communities is even higher than reflected purely in terms of numbers of cases and deaths.

The absolute numbers of cases of pyoderma and pharyngitis dwarf those of the more severe diseases. Although these diseases may seem relatively unimportant because of their apparently benign nature, in themselves they cause substantial ill health, are a major drain on health services, and are costly (particularly because of use of antibiotics and symptomatic medications, and time away from school and work). Moreover, these are the primary infections that subsequently cause invasive and post-streptococcal diseases, so their importance cannot be neglected. Primary prevention of GAS diseases is aimed at controlling these superficial infections.

The data presented here also indicate that GAS diseases are highly prevalent in some regions, but may be less so in others. For example, RHD is very common in Sub-Saharan Africa and the Pacific, of moderate prevalence in South-Central Asia and the Middle East / North Africa, but apparently less common in many Asian countries and Latin America. The ARF incidence data do not always match the RHD prevalence data. In some cases, this may be due to reducing incidence of ARF, which precedes by some years a reduction in RHD prevalence. However, a more likely explanation is the poor quality of data from some regions, particularly Sub-Saharan Africa, Asia and South-Central Asia. The pyoderma data also suggest regional differences in prevalence, which cannot be solely attributed to climate or socio-economic conditions. For example the highest pyoderma prevalences were documented in the Pacific region, whereas poorer, tropical African countries had substantially lower prevalences. The data were inadequate to draw any conclusions regarding regional differences regarding ARF/RHD mortality, APSGN, invasive GAS disease, or pharyngitis. Better data from a number of key regional sites in less developed

local authorities ata may also im			ol GAS diseases. them.

Priority issues

The number of cases and deaths due to GAS diseases, the young age of onset (and of mortality) of most of these diseases, their even greater indirect burden, and their association with poverty mean that these diseases cannot be ignored. Regional variations in disease burden and the paucity of data relating to particular diseases and outcomes make it critical to improve data collection in less developed countries.

Field sites are needed for intensive population based GAS disease burden studies (including bacteraemia surveillance) in less developed countries. Ideally, at least one site would be established in each of Sub-Saharan Africa, Pacific Island nations, East or South-east Asia, and South-Central Asia. In many regions there are already instutions with the necessary infrastructure, and even some with baseline GAS epidemiological data (e.g. the Wellcome/KEMRI Clinical Research Unit in Kenya, where bacteraemia data are being collected), which would simplify the process of establishing GAS field sites. There are a number of research institutes in South-Central Asia that collect GAS epidemiological data; it should not be difficult for one site to expand its program to collect information on all GAS diseases, or perhaps for a collaborative project to be established across institutes.

In addition to collecting complete epidemiological data, these sites could attempt to develop simpler tools for making some GAS disease burden estimates in other less developed countries. These field sites would also likely be ideal locations for future clinical trials of GAS vaccines, with the aim of evaluating their efficacy against the GAS diseases of greatest importance to less developed countries.

APPENDIX 1

Studies since 1985 of rheumatic heart disease prevalence in school-age children, used to calculate regional and global rheumatic heart disease burden

Ref	Year of study	Place	Age (yrs)	RHD Prevalence	Number screened	Number of cases	Echo	Type of study
Sub-Saharan Africa								
(102, 103)	1995	Ethiopia – Addis Ababa	13-15	6.4	9388	09	Yes	School survey
(104)	1984	South Africa - Indiana	4-18	1.0	4408	4	N _o	School survey
(105)	1988-89	Cameroon - Yaounde	6-15	2.1	3382	7	Yes	School survey
(106)	1985	Kenya - Kakamega	5-15	1.7	3631	9	<u>8</u>	School survey
(107)	1994	Kenya – Eldoret	5-15	2.7	1115	က	Yes	School survey
(108)	1986-89	Sudan - Sahafa Town	School-age	က	13332	40	Yes	School survey
(109)	1996	Zaire - Brazzaville	5-16	4 .	2153	က	Yes	School survey
(110)	1987	Zambia - Lusaka	5-16	12.2	11944	146	Yes in 25%	School survey
(111)	1989-90	Ethiopia - Butijara	5-19	4.6	3235	15	N _o	School survey
(10)	1986	Zambia - Lusaka	5-15	14.6	5200	92	? Yes in subset	School survey
(10)	1986	Mali - Bamako	5-15	2.9	14351	4	? Yes	School survey
(20)	1996	Zaire - Kinshasa	5-16	14.0	4848	89	Yes	School survey
(112)	1987-88	Guinea - Conakry	6-25	3.0	27110	8	Yes	School survey
Asia Other								
(10)	1986	Thailand - Bangkok and Nakornraiasima	5-15	0.2	55465	თ	ار ان	School survey
(113)	1987-90	Philippines - Laguna	5-15	0.8	91694	72	? No	School survey
(113)	1996-97	Philippines - Mindanao	5-15	1.3	10635	4	? No	School survey
(113)	1996-97	Philippines - Albay	5-15	1.2	40000	48	? No	School survey
(113)	1995-97	Philippines - La Union	5-15	1.0	28554	29	? No	School survey
(10)	1986	Philippines - Laguna	5-15	1.6	17320	27	oN ¿	School survey
China								
(10)	1986	Guangdong Province	5-15	0.8	31,180	25	oN ?	School screening
Established Market Economies								
(114)	1992 publ	Japan	School-age	0.3	385,000	116	? yes	School survey

1 of 3

(5, 16) 1990s India – north 5-16 2.9 15080 44 Yes School survey (5) 1991-92 India – ultra Pradesh 0-15 6.4 3760 24 Yes Village screening (7) 1988-91 India – ultra Pradesh 0-15 6.4 3760 24 Yes Village screening (11) 1988-91 India – ultra Pradesh 6-16 1.4 1053 14 Yes School survey (115) 1986 India – Luthinana 5-16 1.4 4452 6 Yes School survey (116) 1986 India – Luthinana 5-16 1.2 4756 6 Yes School survey (117) 1986 India – Luthinana 5-16 1.4 4452 6 Yes School survey (17) 1987 Bangladesh – Dhaka 5-15 1.4 568 7 Yes School survey (12) 1988 Bangladesh – Rajbari 5-15 1.4	Ref	Year of study	Place	Age (yrs)	RHD Prevalence (per 1,000)	Number	Number of cases	Echo	Type of study
1990s India – north 5-16 2.9 15080 44 Yes 1991-92 India – Uttar Pradesh 0-15 6.4 3760 24 Yes 1988-91 India – Uttar Pradesh 0-15 6.4 3760 24 Yes 1991 India – Ludhian 6-16 1.4 4452 6 Yes 1997 Nepal (ural) 5-16 1.2 4756 6 Yes 1986 India – Ludhian 6-16 1.2 4756 6 Yes 1987 India – Ludhian 6-16 1.3 6005 8 7 Yes 1987 India – Ludhian 6-16 1.3 6005 8 7 Yes 1992 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 1.4 5923 8 7 Yes 1991 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 1.4 5923 8 7 Yes 1986 Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 0.26 11,700 3 7 No 1986	Indian Subcontinent								
1991-92 India - Uttar Pradesh 0-15 6.4 3760 24 Yes 1988-91 India - India - Jammu City 6-16 1.4 10263 14 Yes 1988-90 India - Jammu City 6-16 1.4 4422 6 Yes 1997 Nepal - Kathmandu 5-16 1.2 4736 6 Yes 1997 Nepal - Kathmandu 5-16 1.2 4736 6 Yes 1987 Nepal - Kathmandu 5-16 1.2 4736 6 Yes 1987 Nepal - Kathmandu 5-16 1.2 4736 6 Yes 1987 Nepal - Kathmandu 5-16 1.3 6005 8 Yes 1987 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 1.4 5923 8 Yes 1993 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 1.4 5923 8 Yes 1994 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 1.4 5923 8 Yes 1986 Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 1.4 8449 12 Yes 1986 Egypt 6-15 1.5 60022 87 Yes 1986 Egypt 6-15 1.5 60022 87 Yes 1980 Saudi Arabia - Western 6-15 2.4 9418 2.3 Yes 1990 Saudi Arabia - Western 6-15 2.4 1428 30 7 No 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 11228 2.3 7 No 1990 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7 No 1990 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7 No 1990 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7 No		1990s		5-16	2.9	15080	44	Yes	School survey
1988-91 India - north 5-15 2.1 31200 66 Yes 1991 India - Lammu City 6-16 1.4 10263 14 Yes 1988-90 India - Rajasthan 3.5-18 3.3 10168 34 Yes 1997 Nepal (rural) 5-16 1.2 4752 6 Yes 1987 India - Amandadesh - Dhaka 5-15 1.2 4758 36 Yes 1992 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 2.2 15798 36 Yes 1992 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 2.4 10638 25 Yes 1992 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 1.4 5923 8 Yes 1986 Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 0.26 11,700 3 7 No 1988 Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 0.26 17,700 3 7 No 1988 Egypt Oman 6-15 0.26 10,70 3 7 No 1992 Yes 1997 Yemen 6-18 0.26 17,70 <td></td> <td>1991-92</td> <td></td> <td>0-15</td> <td>6.4</td> <td>3760</td> <td>24</td> <td>Yes</td> <td>Village screening</td>		1991-92		0-15	6.4	3760	24	Yes	Village screening
1991 India - Jammu City 6-16 1.4 10263 14 Yes 1988-90 India - Rajasthan 3.5-18 3.3 10168 34 Yes 1991 Nepal (rural) 5-16 1.2 4452 6 Yes 1997 Nepal (rural) 5-16 1.2 4736 6 Yes 1987 India - Ludhiana 6-16 1.3 6005 8 Yes 1987 India - Ludhiana 6-16 1.3 6005 8 Yes 1987 India - Ludhiana 5-15 2.2 15798 36 Yes 1991 Bangladesh - Dhaka and 5-15 2.2 15798 36 Yes 1991 Bangladesh - Rajbari 5-15 1.4 5923 8 Yes 1992 Bangladesh - Rajbari 5-15 1.4 5923 8 Yes 1986 Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 1.45 686 11 No 1989-90 India - Agra 6-17 0.7 4086 3 Yes 1992 Yemen 5-18 5-18 3.6 50002 87 Yes 1990 Saudi Arabia - Western 6-18 3.6 5000 18 Yes 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 1528 23 Yes 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 1528 23 Yes 1990 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 You		1988-91		5-15	2.1	31200	99	Yes	Community
1991 India - Jammu City 6-16 14 10263 14 Yes 1988-90 India - Kajasthan 3.5-18 3.3 10168 34 Yes 1987 Nepal - Kathmandu 5-16 1.2 4736 6 Yes 1987 India - Anand 5-15 1.3 6005 8 Yes 1987 India - Ludhiana 5-15 1.3 6005 8 Yes 1987 India - Ludhiana 5-15 1.4 5923 8 Yes 1993 Bangladesh - Dhaka and 5-15 1.4 5923 8 Yes 1994 Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 1.4 8449 12 Yes 1986 Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 1.4 8449 12 Yes 1986 Egypt Fersion Fe									project
1988-90 India - Rajasthan 3.5-18 3.3 10168 34 Yes 1991 Nepal (turtal) 5-16 1.4 4452 6 Yes 1992 Nepal (turtal) 5-16 1.8 4736 6 Yes 1987 India - Anand 5-15 1.8 11,069 20 7 Yes 1987 India - Ludhiana 6-16 1.3 6005 8 7 Yes 1992 Bangladesh - Dhaka and 5-15 2.2 15798 36 Yes 1993 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 1.4 5923 8 Yes 1992 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 1.4 5923 8 Yes 1986 Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 1.4 8449 12 Yes 1986 Eaypt 6-15 1.5 60002 87 Yes 1997 Oman 5-18 0.26 1.45 0.26 1.45 0.46 1997 Oman 5-18 0.46 0.48 0.48 0.48 1990 Saudi Arabia - Western 6-15 2.4 9418 2.3 Yes 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 1528 2.3 7 No 1980 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 1528 2.3 7 No 1980 Algeria - Oran 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7 No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-16 2.0 11228 2.3 7 No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7 No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7 No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7 No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7 No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7 No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7 No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7 No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7 No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7 No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-15 2.0	(21)	1991	1	6-16	1 .	10263	1	Yes	School survey
1991 Nepal (rural) 5-16 1.4 4452 6 Yes 1997 Nepal - Kathmandu 5-16 1.2 4736 6 Yes 1986 India - Luthiana 6-16 1.3 6005 8 7 Yes 1987 India - Luthiana 6-16 1.3 6005 8 7 Yes 1987 India - Luthiana 6-15 2.2 15798 36 7 Yes 1993 Bangladesh - Dhaka and 5-15 2.4 10538 25 Yes 1991 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 1.4 5923 8 Yes Yes 1992 Bangladesh - Rajbari 5-20 1.45 686 1 No 1986 Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 1.4 8449 12 Yes No 1986 Egypt 6-15 1.5 60022 87 7 No 1986 Egypt 6-15 1.5 60022 87 7 No 1997 Oman 6-18 6-18 3.6 5000 18 Yes 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 15430 30 7 No 1989-90 Algeria - Cran 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 1989-90 Algeria - Settif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 1989-90 Algeria - Settif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 1989-90 Algeria - Settif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 1989-90 Algeria - Settif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 1989-90 Algeria - Settif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 1989-90 Algeria - Settif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 1989-90 Algeria - Settif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 2.0 2	(115)	1988-90	- 1	3.5-18	3.3	10168	34	Yes	School survey
1997 Nepal - Kathmandu 5-16 1.2 4736 6 Yes 1986 India - Anand 5-15 1.8 11,069 20 ? Yes 1987 India - Ludhiana 6-16 1.3 6005 8 ? Yes 1992 Bangladesh - Dhaka and 5-15 2.2 15798 36 Yes 1993 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 1.4 5923 8 Yes 1992 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 1.4 5923 8 Yes 1986 Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 1.4 8449 12 Yes 1985 Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 1.4 8449 12 Yes 1995 Turkey - Ankara 6-17 0.7 4086 3 Yes 1997 Oman 6-18 0.8 9904 8 Yes 1997 Oman 6-18 2.4 15430 30 ? No 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 15430 30 ? No 1980 Algeria - Cran 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No 1980 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0	(116)	1991	Nepal (rural)	5-16	1 .	4452	9	Yes	School survey
1986 India - Anand 5-15 1.8 11,069 20 2 Yes 1987 India - Ludhiana 6-16 1.3 6005 8 7 Yes 1988 Bangladesh - Dhaka and 5-15 2.4 10538 25 Yes 1992 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 2.4 10538 25 Yes 1992 Bangladesh - Rajbari 5-20 1.45 686 1 No 1989-90 India - Agra 6-17 0.7 4086 3 Yes 1995 Turkey - Ankara 6-17 0.7 4086 3 Yes 1996 Egypt 6-15 0.8 9904 8 Yes 1997 Oman 6-18 0.8 9904 8 Yes 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 15430 30 7 No 1990 Algeria - Cran 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 1990 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 1990 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 1990 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 1990 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 1990 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 1990 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 1990 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 1990 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 1990 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1900 1900 1990 1990 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900	(117)	1997	Nepal - Kathmandu	5-16	1.2	4736	9	Yes	School survey
1987 India - Ludhiana 6-16 1.3 6005 8 7 Yes 1992 Bangladesh - Dhaka and 1993 5-15 2.4 10538 25 Yes 1993 Bangladesh - Dhaka 1991 5-15 1.4 5923 8 7 Nes 1991 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 5-15 1.4 5923 8 7 Nes 1992 Bangladesh - Rajbari 5-20 1.45 686 1 No 1986 Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 1.4 8449 12 Yes 1989-90 India - Agra 6-15 0.26 11,700 3 7 No 1996 Turkey - Ankara 6-15 0.2 8 9904 8 Yes 1997 Oman 6-15 0.8 9904 8 Yes 1990 Squein - Oran 6-15 2.4 9418 23 Yes 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No	(118)	1986	India - Anand	5-15	4.8	11,069	20	? Yes	School survey
1992 Bangladesh - Dhaka and Dhaka and 1993 5-15 2.2 15798 36 Yes 1993 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 2.4 10538 25 Yes 1991 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 1.4 5923 8 Yes 1986 Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 0.26 11,700 3 7 No 1989-90 India - Agra 5-15 0.26 11,700 3 7 No 1986 Egypt 6-17 0.7 4086 3 Yes 1997 Oman 6-18 0.8 9904 8 Yes 1990 Samind Arabia - Western 6-15 2.4 9418 23 Yes 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 1528 23 7 No 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 15430 30 7 No	(119)	1987	India - Ludhiana	6-16	1 .3	6005	∞	? Yes	School survey
1993 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 2.4 10538 25 Yes 1991 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 1.4 5923 8 Yes Yes 1992 Bangladesh - Rajbari 5-20 1.45 686 1 No 1989-90 India - Agra 5-15 1.4 8449 12 Yes No 1997 Yes 1990 Saudi Arabia - Western 6-15 0.8 9904 18 Yes 1990 Saudi Arabia - Western 6-15 2.4 9418 2.3 Yes 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7 No 1989-90 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7 No 1990	(17)	1992	Bangladesh - Dhaka and	5-15	2.2	15798	36	Yes	School survey
1993 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 2.4 10538 25 Yes 1991 Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 1.4 5923 8 Yes Yes 1992 Bangladesh - Rajbari 5-20 1.45 686 1 No 1989-90 India - Agra 5-15 0.26 11,700 3 7.No 1989-90 India - Agra 6-17 0.7 4086 3 Yes 1986 Egypt 6-15 1.5 60022 87 7.No 1990 Saudi Arabia - Western 6-18 3.6 5000 18 Yes 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 15430 30 7.No 1989-90 Algeria - Oran 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7.No		•	Dhamrai	!			1	:	
le East and North Africa Bangladesh - Dhaka 5-15 1.4 5923 8 Yes 1986 Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 0.26 11,700 3 ? No 1989-90 India - Agra 5-15 0.26 11,700 3 ? No 1989-90 India - Agra 5-15 1.4 8449 12 Yes 1995 Turkey - Ankara 6-17 0.7 4086 3 Yes 1997 Oman 6-15 1.5 60022 87 ? No 1990 Saudi Arabia - Western 6-15 2.4 9418 23 Yes 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 2.0 1.94 15430 30 ? No 1980-90 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No	(120)	1993	Bangladesh - Dhaka	5-15	2.4	10538	25	Yes	School survey
le East and North Africa Pakistan - Islamabad 1985 5-20 1.45 686 1 No le East and North Africa 1986 Pakistan - Islamabad 1989-90 India - Agra 5-15 0.26 11,700 3 7 No le East and North Africa 1986 Turkey - Ankara Egypt Coman 1997 Ce-17 0.7 4086 3 Yes 1997 Oman 1997 Oman Gistrict 5-18 3.6 5000 18 Yes 1990 Saudi Arabia - Western Gistrict 1989-90 Algeria - Oran Algeria - Oran Algeria - Setifi G-19 1.94 1.5430 30 7 No 1989-90 Algeria - Setifi G-19 1.94 1.5430 30 7 No	(121)	1991	Bangladesh - Dhaka	5-15	4.	5923	∞	Yes	Community
le East and North Africa Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 0.26 11,700 3 7 No 1986 Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 0.26 11,700 3 7 No 1989-90 India - Agra 5-15 1.4 8449 12 Yes 1995 Turkey - Ankara 6-17 0.7 4086 3 Yes 1997 Oman 6-15 1.5 60022 87 7 No 1990 Saudi Arabia - Western 6-15 2.4 9418 23 Yes 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-15 2.4 9418 23 7 No 1989 Algeria - Oran 6-19 2.0 11228 23 7 No									survey
le East and North Africa Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 0.26 11,700 3 ? No India - Agra 5-15 0.26 11,700 3 ? No Ie East and North Africa I 995 Turkey - Ankara 6-17 0.7 4086 3 Yes 1986 Egypt 6-15 1.5 60022 87 ? No 1997 Oman 6-18 0.8 9904 8 Yes 1990 Saudi Arabia - Western 6-15 2.4 9418 2.3 Yes 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 15430 30 ? No 1989-90 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No	(122)	1992	Bangladesh - Rajbari	5-20	1.45	989	_	Š	Community
1986 Pakistan - Islamabad 5-15 0.26 11,700 3 7.No 1989-90 India - Agra 5-15 1.4 8449 12 Yes 7.No 1995 Turkey - Ankara 6-17 0.7 4086 3 Yes 7.No 1997 Oman 6-18 0.8 9904 8 Yes Yes 1990 Saudi Arabia - Western 6-15 2.4 9418 2.3 Yes 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7.No 7.No 1989-90 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 2.3 7.No 7.No	í	9		!	(1	(survey
le East and North Africa 5-15 1.4 8449 12 Yes 1985 Turkey - Ankara 6-17 0.7 4086 3 Yes 1986 Egypt 6-15 1.5 60022 87 ? No 1997 Oman 6-18 0.8 9904 8 Yes 1992 Yemen 5-18 3.6 5000 18 Yes 1990 Saudi Arabia - Western 6-15 2.4 9418 23 Yes 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 15430 30 ? No 1989-90 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No	(10)	1986	Pakistan - Islamabad	5-15	0.26	11,700	თ (0N ;	School survey
Le East and North Africa 1995 Turkey - Ankara 6-17 0.7 4086 3 Yes 1986 Egypt 6-15 1.5 60022 87 ? No 1997 Oman 6-18 0.8 9904 8 Yes 1992 Yemen 5-18 3.6 5000 18 Yes district 6-15 2.4 9418 23 Yes 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 15430 30 ? No 1989-90 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No	(19)	1989-90	India - Agra	5-15	۲- 4.	8449 6	12	Yes	School survey
1995 Turkey - Ankara 6-17 0.7 4086 3 Yes 1986 Egypt 6-15 1.5 60022 87 ? No 1997 Oman 6-18 0.8 9904 8 Yes 1992 Yemen 5-18 3.6 5000 18 Yes district 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 15430 30 ? No 1989-90 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No	Middle East and North Africa								
1986 Egypt 6-15 1.5 60022 87 ? No 1997 Oman 6-18 0.8 9904 8 Yes 1992 Yemen 5-18 3.6 5000 18 Yes district 6-15 2.4 9418 23 Yes 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 15430 30 ? No 1989-90 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No	(123)	1995	Turkey - Ankara	6-17	0.7	4086	က	Yes	School survey
1) 1997 Oman 6-18 0.8 9904 8 Yes 5) 1992 Yemen 5-18 3.6 5000 18 Yes 1990 Saudi Arabia - Western 6-15 2.4 9418 23 Yes district Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 15430 30 ? No 1989-90 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No	(10)	1986	Egypt	6-15	1.5	60022	87	? No	School survey
5) 1992 Yemen 5-18 3.6 5000 18 Yes 1990 Saudi Arabia - Western 6-15 2.4 9418 23 Yes district 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 15430 30 ? No 1989-90 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No	(124)	1997	Oman	6-18	0.8	9904	∞	Yes	School survey
1990 Saudi Arabia - Western 6-15 2.4 9418 23 Yes district 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 15430 30 ? No 1989-90 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No	(125)	1992	Yemen	5-18	3.6	2000	18	Yes	School survey
district 1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 15430 30 ? No 1989-90 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No	(14)	1990	Saudi Arabia - Western	6-15	2.4	9418	23	Yes	Community
1990 Algeria - Oran 6-19 1.94 15430 30 ? No 1989-90 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No	!		district	:			,	;	survey
1989-90 Algeria - Setif 6-19 2.0 11228 23 ? No	(18)	1990	Algeria - Oran	6-19	1.94	15430	30	' No	School survey
	(18)	1989-90	Algeria - Setif	6-19	2.0	11228	23	o No	School survey

Ref	Year of study	Place	Age (yrs)	RHD Prevalence (per 1,000)	Number screened	Number of cases	Echo	Type of study
Pacific and Indigenous Australia / New Zealand								
(126) (10)	1985 1986	Tonga Tonga - Tongatapu	5-12 5-15	2.7	1106 16456	e Σ	Yes	School survey School survey
(13)	1997	Samoa	5-17	77.8	8767	682	2 ;	School survey
(3) (127)	1997 1987	Australia - Aboriginal Australia - Aboriginal	5-14 >5	22.4 12.3	8248 976	38 12	Yes Yes	Registry data Community
(4) (128)	2001 1985	Australia - Aboriginal Australia - Aboriginal	5-14 5-18	12.5 13.5	4843 1113	37 15	Yes	Salivey Registry Data School survey
Latin America								
(41, 129)	1987	Havana, Cuba	5-14	- -	6119	7	? Yes	School survey
(10)	1986	Bolivia - La Paz	5-15	7.3	1377	7	? No	School survey
(130, 131)	1986	Cuba - Santiago de Cuba and Pinar del Rio	5-14	3.0	14662	44	? Yes	School survey
(130)	1996	Cuba - Pinar del Rio	5-14	0.2	24519	S)	? Yes	School survey
(10)	1985	El Salvador - San Salvador	School age	0.1	10248	~	o N o	School survey
(132)	1992	Brazil - Belo Horizonte	10-20	3.6	550	7	Yes	School survey
(133)	1989	Bolivia - La Paz	4-21	4.07	5655	23	<u>8</u>	School survey
Eastern Europe								
(11) (134)	1998 1994	Romania Russia	5-15 Children	0.054 5	4 4 2 2	₹ ₹	9 No 9 No 9 No	Register based Government
								statistics

3 of 3



Recent studies documenting the incidence of acute rheumatic fever in children and adolescents

Ref	Year of study	Place	Age	ARF incidence (per 100,00 per year)
Asia other				
(135)	1981-90	Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur	Children	21.2
Eastern Euro	ope			
(136)	1982-87	Yugoslavia, Belgrade	0-19	9.2 (1982), 3.3 (1987)
(137)	1990-91	Slovenia	0-14	0.7
(138)	1982	Serbia	5-14	11.1
(11)	1999	Romania	5-15	16.5
(134)	1994	Russia	Children	18
Established	Market Economies			
(139)	1984-88	USA, Hawaii	4-18	9.5 (All)
(100)	1982-97	New Zealand, Auckland	5-15	<10 (European
				descent)
(58)	1988-97	New Zealand	5-14	16.7 (AII)
Indian subco	ontinent			
(140)	1984-95	India	5-14	54
Latin Americ	a and Caribbean			
(141)	1982-92	Martinique and Guadaloupe	<20	17.4 to 19.6 (1982)
(130)	1996	Cuba, Pinar del Rio	5-14	2.7
(142)	1986-90	Barbados	0-19	8
(41, 143)	1982	Cuba, Havana	5-14	10.5
(130, 131)	1986	Cuba, Santiago and Pinar	5-14	21.0 (Santiago)
		del Rio		28.4 (Pinar)
(144)	1987-91	Martinique	5-14	53
(145)	1994-99	Mexico	5-20	70
(146)	1992	Brazil, Belo Horizonte	10-20	360
Middle East	and North Africa			
(18)	1997 - 2000	Algeria	4-19	11.1 (1997), 6.2 (2000)
(147)	1966-84	Israel	5-15	4.4
(148)	1988-97	Israel	5-35	5
(149)	1984-94	Qatar	4-14	11.2
(150)	1980-90	Israel, Tel Aviv	5-15	15.5
(61)	1980-83	Kuwait	Children	19.6
(151)	1984-88	Kuwait	5-14	29
	1990	Tunisia	School age	30
(152) (124)	1997	Oman	6-18	40
Pacific and I	Indigenous Australi	ia / New Zealand		
(100)	1982-97	New Zealand, Auckland	5-15	80-100 (Pacific Islanders
(130)	1004 00	USA, Hawaii	1 10	40-80 (Maori)
(139)	1984-88		4-18 5.14	195 (Hawaiian Samoans
(4) (153)	2002	Australia, Aboriginal	5-14 5-14	374 375
(153)	1988-92	Australia – Aboriginal	5-14 5-14	375 508
(3) (127)	1987-96 1978-87	Australia, Aboriginal Australia, Aboriginal	5-14 5-14	508 815

APPENDIX 3

Hospital-based and cause of death studies relating to rheumatic heart disease

Ref	Year of study	Place	Age (years)	Burden
Asia other				
(154) (9) (155) (156) (135) (157)	1999 (publ) 1986 1984 (publ) 1950-89 1981-90 1979-90	Hong Kong Indonesia Malaysia Malaysia Malaysia Taiwan	Adults All All All All Children Pregnant	12.5% of hospitalised Chinese CCF pts had RHD RHD mortality rate 2.1 per 100k as principal cause, 3.1 per 100k associated cause RHD 20.6% of cardiac admissions RHD caused 0.7% of all deaths 1975-89. Similar percentage between 1965 and 1989 ARF/RHD 21.2 per 100,000 paediatric admissions RHD 34.4% of organic heart disease in pregnant women (vs 53% congenital)
Subsaharan Africa	frica			
(158) (159) (160) (161) (162)	1981-89 1985-88 1981-88 1989-92 1989-90	Cameroon Ethiopia Ethiopia Ethiopia France Burkina Faso Ivory Coast Tunisia	<16 >10 Children Children All	RHD 3.4 per 1000 paediatric admissions. (113 RHD vs 211 congenital) RHD most common cause for cardiac admission (45.5%). Average age 33 yrs RHD most common cardiac admission (54.5% vs 35.5% congenital) RHD 59.4% of children seen in cardiology clinic (vs 35.9% congenital) RHD as proportion of cardiology referrals in clinics: France 0.04: 3.2% Ivory Coast: 13.2% Burkina Faso: 13.0%
(163)	1992-1995	Ghana	Ψ	RHD 2nd most common cause of heart failure in large teaching hospital (20% vs 21% hypertensive) RHD cases young (mean 36.2 yr vs 56 yr hypertensive and 62 yr IHD) RHD most common acquired heart disease in children 24% (vs concentral 48.7%)
(164) (165) (166) (167) (168) (170, 171) (172)	1989-90 1988 1999 (publ) 1991-92 1994 1982-90 1961-91	lvory Coast Kenya Kenya Kenya Mozambique Nigeria Senegal Senegal	All Children Adults >60 All All All 12-18	RHD 14.5% of all cardiology admissions, vs 39% hypertension and 12.4% congenital One-third of paediatric cardiac referrals for RHD (10/31), vs 12/31 for congenital Heart failure caused 3.3% of admissions to hospital, and RHD most common cause (32%) RHD responsible for only 0.5% of CVD admissions in elderly RHD registered cause of death for 0.05% of 8114 deaths. CVD altogether responsible for 8.1%. Of 1523 medicolegal autopsies, 15 deaths due to RHD (1%) 79% of hospitalised RHD patients aged 11-30 yrs. 48% presented in heart failure RHD responsible for 26.5% of all cardiac admissions (50% <20y) RHD and ARF responsible for 46% of all adolescent hospital admissions (next most common was anaemia at 10.5%) in this age group.
				12.7% of RHD admissions died

Ref	Year of study	Place	Age (years)	Burden
(173)	1998	South Africa	Mothers	RHD the major cause of maternal mortality due to preexisting disease in Sth Africa.
(174) (175, 176)	1992-1995 1997 (publ)	Sth Africa Sth Africa	All Mothers	Risk of death due to ARF in 1990s 2.6 times that for France in 1951 Cardiac disease complicated 0.65% of pregnancies, most commonly due to RHD. Maternal
(177)	1980s-1990s	Sudan	Children	mortality rate 9.5% RHD cause of 39% of cardiac clinic presentations (vs 56% congenital)
China				
(178) (179)	1980s-1990s 1948-89	China China	All Adults	Rising trend in mortality from RHD RHD constant as cause of cardiac admissions to 2 adult teaching hospitals between 1950s and 1980s
Eastern Europe				
(180)	1955-94	Croatia	Children	Dramatic reduction in number and severity of hospitalised RF and RHD (from 472 in 1955-64
(181)	1979-93	Hungary	Children	or 19 in op-94) Steady decrease in RHD referrals to a tertiary cardiology centre
Indian Subcontinent	inent			
(182)	1960-89	India	All	RHD admissions steady at ~40% all cardiac admissions over 30yrs, whereas ARF
(183)	1995-96	India	Adults	RHD caused 53% of 125 consecutive pts admitted with cardiac failure RHD responsible for 40% cardiac admissions (most common cause) even in 1980s
(185)	1989	Sri Lanka	All	In 1988, 7500 and in 1989, 6500 admissions with ARF/RHD, with 284 deaths. Similar to hypertensive heart disease, but less than IHD and stroke
Latin America				
(186) (187)	1999 (publ) 1995	Antigua Brazil	Adults Adults	293 pts hospitalised with heart failure. RHD not one of the two main causes. Valvular heart disease responsible for 22% of cardiac failure admissions, which in turn were
(188)	1991	Brazil		responsible for 9.4% of all medical admissions. RF responsible for 0.62% - 0.35% of hospital admissions, with a 4-7% hospital mortality rate.

3 of 3



Studies since 1980 documenting the association of rheumatic heart disease and infective endocarditis

Ref	Year of study	Country	Age	Proportion of IE with RHD as predisposing factor	Rank of RHD as predisposing factor	Notes / mortality
(204)	1980-89	Denmark	All	1.5%	Not stated	
(205)	1982-92	France	Children	10%	Not stated	0% in children born in France
(206)	1977-92	USA	Children	5%	Not stated	
(207)	1994-95	Brazil	12-20y	63%	Most common	Mortality 42%
(208)	1977-85	Ethiopia	>13y	86%	Most common	•
(209)	1995-97	India	All	56%	Most common	Mortality 30%
(210)	1981-91	India	All	42%	Most common	Mortality 25%
(211)	1984-90	India	Children	49%	Most common	
(212)	1987-88	India	Adults	68%	Most common	Mortality 21%
(43)	1980-94	Israel	Adults	37%	Most common	Incidence IE 1.2 per 100,000 in
						1990s. Deduced
						incidence of RHD
						related IE = 0.44
						per 100,000
(213)	1982-92	Ivory Coast	All	30%	Most common	
(214)	1983-94	Morocco	>11y	63%	Most common	Mortality 29%
(182)	1982-89	Nigeria	Children	66%	Most common	M. 1.11 0001
(215)	1992-96	Slovakia	All	30%	Most common	Mortality 22%
(216)	1974-99	Turkey	Adults	65%	Most common	



Population based studies of the incidence of acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis

Ref	Year of study	Place	Age	APSGN incidence (per 100,000 per year)
(54)*	1970-1994	Italy	>15y	0.29
(55, 56)*	1986-1990	France	All	0.15
(57)	1985	Singapore	<12y	10.8
(58)	1988-97	New Zealand	5-14y	8.1 (All)
` ,			•	~48 (Maori)
				~80 (Pacific Islander)
(59)	1981-84	New Zealand	Children	50.5 (Maori)
` '				46.5 (Pacific Islander)
				5.9 (Other)
(60)	1993-95	Australia	<15y	239 (Aboriginal)
` '			•	6 (non-Aboriginal)
(141)	1979-80	French Caribbean	<20y	~20
(217)	1980-89	Chile	<15	18.1
(67)	1986-91	Nigeria	<15y	24.3
(61)	1980-83	Kuwait	Children	17.8
(66)	1980-84	Kuwait	Children	19.5

^{*} Biopsy-based study only, so likely under-ascertainment

Population-based studies of the incidence of invasive group A streptococcal infections

Ref	Year of study	Place	Age	Incidence (per 100,000 per year)	Mortality
(218)	1991-96	Australia	All	32.2 (Indigenous) 6.4 (non-Indigenous)	13%
(219)	1996-2001	Australia	All	82.5 (Indigenous) 10.2 (non-Indigenous)	7%
(78)	1992-93	Canada	All	1.5	15%
(79)	1981-93	Denmark	All	1.6	23%
(220)	1986-91	Denmark	All	2.3	22%
(80)	2000	England and Wales	All	1.7	
(221)	2001	France	All	1.7	
(222)	1981-94	Israel	All		21%
(223)	1997-98	Israel	All	3.7	5%-14%
(224)	1990-94	Israel	<15y	4.8	
(74)	1998-2002	Kenya	<15y	13.0	25%
(225)	1993-94	Norway	All	3.9	
(226)	19929-6	Ontario, Canada	<18y	1.9	4%
(77)	1987-95	Sweden	All	2.3	11%
(227)	1993-96	Sweden	All	2.6	16%
(228)	1994	UK	All		18%
(229)	1990-99	UK	All	1.35	
(81)	1985-90	USA	All	46.0 (Native American) 2.7 (White)	20%
(76)	1994-95	USA	All	5.2	14.4%



Studies since 1980 documenting population or community-based prevalence of scabies and/or pyoderma

Ref	Year of study	Place	Age (years)	Number surveyed	Prevalence pyoderma	Prevalence scabies
(230)	1994	Ethiopia	All	768	"Common"	"Common"
(231)	1991	Tanzania	All	936	0.3%	6% all ages 8.5% <15y
(232)	1994	Portugal	All	1000	0.7%	1.2%
(233)	1998	Taiwan	Primary school age	3029	0.8%	1.4%
(234)	1993	Kenya	School age	5780	0.9%	8.3%
(234)	1999	Kenya	School age	4961	1.6%	7.7%
(236)	1994	Tanzania	All	1114	1.7%	5.0%
(237)	1994*	Mexico	All	1528	1.8%	1.7%
(238)	1988-89	Malawi	All	34,000	6%	3%
(239)	1998*	Malaysia	All	356	7.0%	11.9%
(240)	1983	Mozambique	<15	798	11 to 17%	
(241)	1989	Ethiopia	School age	1842	11.6%	1.7%
(242)	1989	Vanuatu	All	18223	11.7% all ages ~16% <10y 28% <5y	16% all ages 24% <10y
(243)	1981*	Brazil	6-16	9955	12.2%	3.0%
(244)	1993-94	Mali	<13	1817	12.3%	4.3%
(245)	1995*	Malaysia	Children	41	20%	
(246)	1998*	Tanzania	All	800	~20%	4% all ages
(247)	2000	Australian Aboriginal	<6	217	22.5%	35%
(248)	1986	Nigeria	All	1960		35%
(249)	1984	Solomon Islands	All	10224	43% all ages 52% <15y	1.3% all ages 3% <10y
(13)	1997	Samoa	5-17		43.6%	4.9%
(250)	1994	Australian Aboriginal	All	125	49% all ages 69% <16 29% >16	29% all ages 32% <16 25% >16
(251)	2000	Australian Aboriginal	<17	129	64%	2070 - 10
(252)	1995	Australian Aboriginal	<15	130	90%	

^{*} Publication date (study date not given)

References

- Murray CJL, Lopez AD: Rheumatic heart disease, congestive heart failure, in Global Burden of Disease and Injury Series Volume 2: Global Health Statistics, vol 2. Boston, Harvard School of Public Health, 1996, pp 643-5
- 2. World Health Organization: World Health Report 2002. Reducing risks, promoting healthy life. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2002
- 3. Carapetis JR, Currie BJ, Mathews JD: Cumulative incidence of rheumatic fever in an endemic region: a guide to the susceptibility of the population? Epidemiol.Infect. 2000; 124(2):239-244
- Central Australian RHD Steering Committee: Central Australian Rheumatic Heart Disease Control Program, Commonwealth Report, November 2002. Alice Springs, Dept of Health and Community Services, NT Government, 2002, pp 1-14
- 5. Agarwal AK, Yunus M, Ahmad J, Khan A: Rheumatic heart disease in India. J.R.Soc.Health 1995; 115(5):303-4, 309
- 6. Aung, Myo TH, Thein N, Nyan T, May MK: Prevalence of cardiovascular diseases in rural area of Hmawbi and urban Yangon city. Asia Pacific J Public Health 1992; 6:188-94
- 7. Grover A, Dhawan A, Iyengar SD, Anand IS, Wahi PL, Ganguly NK: Epidemiology of rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in a rural community in northern India. Bull.World Health Organ 1993; 71(1):59-66
- 8. Quinn RW: Comprehensive review of morbidity and mortality trends for rheumatic fever, streptococcal disease, and scarlet fever: the decline of rheumatic fever. Rev Infect Dis 1989; 11:928-953
- 9. Boedhi-Darmojo R: The pattern of cardiovascular disease in Indonesia. World Health Stat.Q. 1993; 46(2):119-124
- 10. World Health Organization: WHO Global Programme for the prevention of rheumatic fever / rheumatic heart disease in sixteen developing countries (AGFUND supported). Meeting of national programme managers, Geneva: 4-6 November 1986. Geneva, World Health Organization, 1987, pp 1-16
- 11. Carp C: WHO / WHF / UNESCO joint consultation on RF/RHD prevention: a progress report of activities for Romania. Bucharest, Illescu Institute of Cardiology, 1999, pp 1-12
- 12. Carapetis JR: PhD Thesis: Ending the heartache: the epidemiology and control of acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in the Top End of the Northern Territory. Sydney, University of Sydney, 1998
- 13. Steer AC, Adams J, Carlin J, Nolan T, Shann F: Rheumatic heart disease in school children in Samoa. Arch.Dis.Child 1999; 81(4):372
- 14. al Sekait MA, al Sweliem AA, Tahir M: Rheumatic heart disease in schoolchildren in western district, Saudi Arabia. J.R.Soc.Health 1990; 110(1):15-6, 19
- 15. Thakur JS, Negi PC, Ahluwalia SK, Vaidya NK: Epidemiological survey of rheumatic heart disease among school children in the Shimla Hills of northern India: prevalence and risk factors. J.Epidemiol.Community Health 1996; 50(1):62-67

- 16. Thakur JS, Negi PC, Ahluwalia SK, Sharma R, Bhardwaj R: Congenital heart disease among school children in Shimla hills. Indian Heart J. 1995; 47(3):232-235
- 17. Haque KM, Hossain M, Mahmud RS, Tokeshi S, Arzu S, Jalil Q, Hossain MI, Yoshitake K, Kuno Y, Zafar A, Malik A: Epidemiology of rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease: observations in 15798 children of rural and urban areas, in First national scientific conference on rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease, May 4-5, 1992. Edited by Faruq QO. Dhaka, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Government of the People's Republic of Bangladesh, 1992, pp 31-32
- 18. Kermani S, Berah H: La situation epidemiologique du RAA en Algerie depuis 1990. Algiers, Algerian Ministry of Health, Dept of Epidemiology (National Program for the Prevention and Control of RF), 2001
- 19. Vashistha VM, Kalra A, Kalra K, Jain VK: Prevalence of rheumatic heart disease in school children. Indian Pediatr. 1993; 30(1):53-56
- 20. Longo-Mbenza B, Bayekula M, Ngiyulu R, Kintoki VE, Bikangi NF, Seghers KV, Lukoki LE, Mandundu MF, Manzanza M, Nlandu Y: Survey of rheumatic heart disease in school children of Kinshasa town. Int.J.Cardiol. 1998; 63(3):287-294
- 21. Gupta I, Gupta ML, Parihar A, Gupta CD: Epidemiology of rheumatic and congenital heart diseases in school children. J.Indian Med.Assoc. 1992; 90(3):57-59
- 22. Schwentker FS: The epidemiology of rheumatic fever, in Rheumatic fever a symposium. Edited by Thomas L. Minneapolis, University of Minnesota Press, 1952, pp 17-27
- 23. Rheumatic Fever Working Party: The evolution of rheumatic heart disease in children. Five-year report of a cooperative clinical trial of ACTH, cortisone, and aspirin. Circulation 1960; 22:503-15
- 24. Dajani A, Taubert K, Ferrieri P, Peter G, Shulman S: Treatment of acute streptococcal pharyngitis and prevention of rheumatic fever: a statement for health professionals. Committee on Rheumatic Fever, Endocarditis, and Kawasaki Disease of the Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young, the American Heart Association. Pediatrics 1995; 96(4 Pt 1):758-64.
- 25. Stollerman G: Rheumatic fever and streptococcal infection. Grune & Stratton ,New York 1975
- 26. Carapetis JR, Wolff DR, Currie BJ: Acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in the top end of Australia's Northern Territory. Med.J.Aust. 1996; 164(3):146-149
- 27. Carapetis JR, Currie BJ: Rheumatic chorea in northern Australia: a clinical and epidemiological study. Arch.Dis.Child 1999; 80(4):353-358
- 28. Jones TD, Bland EF: The natural history of rheumatic fever, in Rheumatic fever a symposium. Edited by Thomas L. Minneapolis, University of Minnesota Press, 1952, pp 5-16
- 29. Wilson MG: Rheumatic heart disease: Prognosis, in Advances in rheumatic fever. Edited by Wilson MG. New York, Harper and Row, 1962, pp 150-161
- 30. Wilson M, Lim W: The natural history of rheumatic heart disease in the third, fourth, and fifth decades of life.

 1: Prognosis with special reference to survivorship. Circulation 1957; 16:700-722
- 31. Rheumatic Fever Working Party: The natural history of rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease: tenyear report of a cooperative clinical trial of ACTH, cortisone, and aspirin. Circulation 1965; 32:457-476

- 32. Gordis L: Effectiveness of comprehensive care programs in preventing rheumatic fever. N Engl J Med 1973; 289:331-335
- 33. Lue HC, Chen CL, Wei H, Okuni M, Mabilangan LM, Dharmasakti D, Hanafiah A: The natural history of rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in the Orient. Jpn Heart J 1979; 20(3):237-52.
- 34. Pearce N, Pomare E, Marshall S, Borman B: Mortality and social class in Maori and nonMaori New Zealand men: changes between 1975-7 and 1985-7. N.Z.Med.J. 1993; 106(956):193-196
- 35. Davidson M, Bulkow LR, Gellin BG: Cardiac mortality in Alaska's indigenous and non-Native residents. Int.J.Epidemiol. 1993; 22(1):62-71
- 36. Carapetis JR, Currie BJ: Mortality due to acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in the Northern Territory: a preventable cause of death in aboriginal people. Aust.N.Z.J.Public Health 1999; 23(2):159-163
- 37. Gillum RF: U.S. trends in rheumatic fever and heart disease. Am. Heart J. 1993; 126(6):1496-1497
- 38. Suarez-Varela MM, Llopis GA, Tejerizo Perez ML: Variations in avoidable mortality in relation to health care resources and urbanization level. J.Environ.Pathol.Toxicol.Oncol. 1996; 15(2-4):149-154
- 39. Cortina GP, Alfonso Sanchez JL, Cortes VC, Smeyers DP, Gonzalez Arraez JI: [Epidemiological course of rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in Spain (1951-1986)]. Rev.Sanid.Hig.Publica (Madr.) 1991; 65(1):17-24
- 40. Haddad N, Silva MB: Mortality due to cardiovascular disease in women during the reproductive age (15 to 49 years), in the State of Sao Paulo, Brazil, from 1991 to 1995. Arg Bras.Cardiol. 2000; 75(5):375-379
- 41. Nordet PE: Fiebre reumatica. Magnitud y aspectos clinicos epidemiologicos. Provincia ciudad de la Habana Cuba, 1972-87, in Ministerio de Salud Publica, Instituto de Cardiologia y Cirugia Cardiovascular, Ciudad de Habana, Cuba. Havana, 1988
- 42. Yao C, Wu Z, Wu Y: The changing pattern of cardiovascular diseases in China. World Health Stat Q 1993; 46(2):113-8
- 43. Borer A, Riesenberg K, Uriel N, Gilad J, Porath A, Weber G, Schlaeffer F: Infective endocarditis in a tertiary-care hospital in southern Israel. Public Health Rev. 1998; 26(4):317-330
- 44. Murray CJL, Lopez AD: Cerebrovascular disease, in Global Burden of Disease and Injury Series Volume 2: Global Health Statistics, vol 2. Boston, Harvard School of Public Health, 1996, pp 655-7
- 45. American Heart Association: Heart disease and stroke statistics 2003 update. Dallas, American Heart Association, 2002
- 46. Awada A: Stroke in Saudi Arabian young adults: a study of 120 cases. Acta Neurol Scand 1994; 89(5):323-8.
- 47. Yaqub BA, Shamena AR, Kolawole TM, Patel PJ: Cerebrovascular disease in Saudi Arabia. Stroke 1991; 22(9):1173-1176
- 48. Rey RC, Lepera SM, Kohler G, Monteverde DA, Sica RE: [Cerebral embolism of cardiac origin]. Medicina 1992; 52(3):202-6
- 49. Jovanovic Z: [Risk factors for stroke in young people]. Srp Arh Celok Lek 1996; 124(9-10):232-5.
- 50. Banerjee AK, Varma M, Vasista RK, Chopra JS: Cerebrovascular disease in north-west India: a study of necropsy material. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1989; 52(4):512-5.

- 51. Kaul S, Sunitha P, Suvarna A, Meena AK, Uma M, Reddy JM: Subtypes of Ischemic Stroke in a Metropolitan City of South India (One year data from a hospital based stroke registry). Neurol India 2002; 50 Suppl:S8-S14.
- 52. Yasaka M, Yokota C, Minematsu K, Yamaguchi T: [Pathophysiology and treatment of cardioembolic stroke]. Nippon Ronen Igakkai Zasshi 1998; 35(10):735-40.
- 53. Luijckx GJ, Ukachoke C, Limapichat K, Heuts-van Raak EP, Lodder J: Brain infarct causes under the age of fifty: a comparison between an east-Asian (Thai) and a western (Dutch) hospital series. Clin.Neurol.Neurosurg. 1993; 95(3):199-203
- 54. Stratta P, Segoloni GP, Canavese C, Sandri L, Mazzucco G, Roccatello D, Manganaro M, Vercellone A: Incidence of biopsy-proven primary glomerulonephritis in an Italian province. Am.J.Kidney Dis. 1996; 27(5):631-639
- 55. Simon P, Ramee MP, Autuly V, Laruelle E, Charasse C, Cam G, Ang KS: [Epidemiology of primary glomerulopathies in a French region. Variations as a function of age in patients]. Nephrologie 1995; 16(2):191-201
- 56. Simon P, Ramee MP, Autuly V, Laruelle E, Charasse C, Cam G, Ang KS: Epidemiology of primary glomerular diseases in a French region. Variations according to period and age. Kidney Int. 1994; 46(4):1192-1198
- 57. Yap HK, Chia KS, Murugasu B, Saw AH, Tay JS, Ikshuvanam M, Tan KW, Cheng HK, Tan CL, Lim CH: Acute glomerulonephritis—changing patterns in Singapore children. Pediatr.Nephrol. 1990; 4(5):482-484
- 58. Baker M, Naing T, Martin D, Crampton P: The comparative epidemiology of post streptococcal diseases in New Zealand: acute rheumatic fever and acute glomerulonephritis, in Streptococci and streptococcal diseases: entering the new millenium. Porirua, ESR, 2000, pp 545-547
- 59. Lennon D, Martin D, Wong E, Taylor L: Longitudinal study of poststreptococcal disease in Auckland rheumatic fever, glomerulonephritis, epidemiology and M-typing 1981-6. N Z Med J 1988; 101:396-398
- 60. Carapetis JR: Introduction, in PhD Thesis: Ending the heartache: the epidemiology and control of acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in the Top End of the Northern Territory. Sydney, University of Sydney, 1998, p 5
- 61. Majeed HA, Yousof AM, Rotta J, Havlickpva H, Bahar G, Bahbahani K: Group A streptococcal strains in Kuwait: a nine-year prospective study of prevalence and associations. Pediatr.Infect.Dis.J. 1992; 11(4):295-300
- 62. Holm SE, Nordstrand A, Stevens DL, Norgren M: Acute poststreptococcal glomerulonephritis, in Streptococcal infections: clinical aspects, microbiology and molecular pathogenesis. Edited by Stevens DL, Kaplan EL. New York, Oxford University Press, 2000, pp 152-62
- 63. D'Cruz F, Samsudin AT, Hamid MS, Abraham T: Acute glomerulonephritis in Kelantan—a prospective study. Med.J.Malaysia 1990; 45(2):123-130
- 64. Zhang Y, Shen Y, Feld LG, Stapleton FB: Changing pattern of glomerular disease at Beijing Children's Hospital. Clin.Pediatr.(Phila) 1994; 33(9):542-547
- 65. Rajajee S: Post-streptococcal acute glomerulonephritis: a clinical, bacteriological and serological study. Indian J.Pediatr. 1990; 57(6):775-780
- 66. Khuffash FA, Sharda DC, Majeed HA: Sporadic pharyngitis-associated acute poststreptococcal nephritis. A four-year prospective clinical study of the acute episode. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 1986; 25(4):181-4.
- 67. Eke FU, Eke NN: Renal disorders in children: a Nigerian study. Pediatr.Nephrol. 1994; 8(3):383-386

- 68. Shiva F, Far RR, Behjati MR: Acute glomerulonephritis in children. J.Pak.Med.Assoc. 1994; 44(5):116-118
- 69. Chugh KS, Malhotra HS, Sakhuja V, Bhusnurmath S, Singhai PC, Unni VN, Singh N, Pirzada R, Kapoor MM: Progression to end stage renal disease in post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis (PSGN). Int J Artificial Organs 1987; 10:189-194
- 70. Bohle A, Wehrmann M, Bogenschutz O, Batz C, Vogl W, Schmitt H, Muller CA, Muller GA: The long-term prognosis of the primary glomerulonephritides. A morphological and clinical analysis of 1747 cases. Pathol Res Pract 1992; 188(7):908-24.
- 71. Richmond DE, Doak PB: The prognosis of acute post infectious glomerulonephritis in adults: a long-term prospective study. Aust N Z J Med 1990; 20:215-9
- 72. White AV, Hoy WE, McCredie DA: Childhood post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis as a risk factor for chronic renal disease in later life. Med.J.Aust. 2001; 174(10):492-496
- 73. Hoy WE, Mathews JD, McCredie DA, Pugsley DJ, Hayhurst BG, Rees M, Kile E, Walker KA, Wang Z: The multidimensional nature of renal disease: rates and associations of albuminuria in an Australian Aboriginal community. Kidney Int. 1998; 54(4):1296-1304
- 74. Berkley JA, Lowe BS, Mwangi I, Williams T, Bauni E, Mwarumba S, Ngetsa C, Slack MP, Njenga S, Hart CA, Maitland K, English M, Marsh K, Scott JA: Bacteremia among children admitted to a rural hospital in Kenya. N Engl J Med 2005; 352(1):39-47
- 75. The WHO Young Infants Study Group: Bacterial etiology of serious infections in young infants in developing countries: results of a multicenter study. Pediatr Infect Dis J 1999; 18(10 Suppl):S17-22
- 76. Zurawski CA, Bardsley M, Beall B, Elliott JA, Facklam R, Schwartz B, Farley MM: Invasive group A streptococcal disease in metropolitan Atlanta: a population-based assessment. Clin.Infect.Dis. 1998; 27(1):150-157
- 77. Eriksson BK, Andersson J, Holm SE, Norgren M: Epidemiological and clinical aspects of invasive group A streptococcal infections and the streptococcal toxic shock syndrome. Clin.Infect.Dis. 1998; 27(6):1428-1436
- 78. Davies HD, McGeer A, Schwartz B, Green K, Cann D, Simor AE, Low DE: Invasive group A streptococcal infections in Ontario, Canada. N.Engl.J.Med. 1996; 335(8):547-554
- 79. Kristensen B, Schonheyder HC: A 13-year survey of bacteraemia due to beta-haemolytic streptococci in a Danish county. J.Med.Microbiol. 1995; 43(1):63-67
- 80. Lamagni TL, Duckworth G, Emery M, Tanna A, George RC, Efstratiou A: The changing epidemiology of invasive Streptococcus pyogenes infections in England and Wales: 1991-2001, in Proceedings of the 15th Lancefield International Symposium on Streptococci and Streptococcal Diseases. Goa, LISSSD, 2002, p O1.4
- 81. Hoge CW, Schwartz B, Talkington DF, Breiman RF, MacNeill EM, Englender SJ: The changing epidemiology of invasive group A streptococcal infections and the emergence of streptococcal toxic shock-like syndrome. A retrospective population-based study. JAMA 1993; 269(3):384-389
- 82. Sergent JS: Acute rheumatic fever. Trans.Am.Clin.Climatol.Assoc. 1992; 104:15-23
- 83. Stanton B, Khanam S, Nazrul H, Nurani S, Khair T: Scabies in urban Bangladesh. J Trop Med Hyg 1987; 90(5):219-26.

- 84. Lonc E, Okulewicz A: Scabies and head-lice infestations in different environmental conditions of Lower Silesia, Poland. J.Parasitol. 2000; 86(1):170-171
- 85. Landwehr D, Keita SM, Ponnighaus JM, Tounkara C: Epidemiologic aspects of scabies in Mali, Malawi, and Cambodia. Int.J.Dermatol. 1998; 37(8):588-590
- 86. Hegazy AA, Darwish NM, Abdel-Hamid IA, Hammad SM: Epidemiology and control of scabies in an Egyptian village. Int.J.Dermatol. 1999; 38(4):291-295
- 87. Bockarie MJ, Alexander ND, Kazura JW, Bockarie F, Griffin L, Alpers MP: Treatment with ivermectin reduces the high prevalence of scabies in a village in Papua New Guinea. Acta Trop. 2000; 75(1):127-130
- 88. Dingle JH, Badger GF, Jordan WSJ: Streptococcal infections, in Illness in the home: a study of 25,000 illnesses in a group of Cleveland families. Cleveland, Press of Western Reserve University, 1964, pp 97-117
- 89. Cornfeld D, Hubbard JP, Harris TN, Weaver R: Epidemiologic studies of streptococcal infection in school children. Am J Public Health 1961; 51:242-249
- 90. Breese B: The nature of a small pediatric group practice, part 1. Pediatrics 1966; 38:264-77
- 91. El-Kholy A, Sorour AH, Houser HB, Wannamaker LW, Robins M, Poitras JM, Krause RM: Clinical and epidemiological features of streptococcal infections in a rural Egyptian population, in Streptococcal disease and the community. Edited by Haverkorn MJ. Amsterdam, Excerpta Medica, 1974, pp 275-81
- 92. Woodwell DA: Office visits to pediatric specialists, 1989, in Advance data from vital and health statistics, no 208. Hyattsville, MD, National Centre for health Statistics, 1992
- 93. Woodwell DA: National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey: 1996 Summary., in Advance Data From Vital and Health Statistics, no 295. Hyattsville, MD, National Center for Health Statistics, 1997
- 94. Anonymous: Prescribing practice review (PPR 18): Antibiotics in primary care. Surrey Hills, National Prescribing Service Limited, 2002
- 95. Britt H, Miller GC, Knox S: General practice activity in Australia 2000-01. Canberra, Australian Institute of health and welfare (AIHW Catalogue No.GEP 8), 2001
- 96. Komaroff Al, Pass TM, Aronson MD: The prediction of streptococcal pharyngitis in adults. J Gen Intern Med 1986; 1:1-7
- 97. Bisno AL: Acute pharyngitis: etiology and diagnosis. Pediatrics 1996; 97 (suppl):949-954
- 98. Majeed HA, Al-Doussary L, Moussa MM, Yusuf AR, Suliman AH: Office diagnosis and management of group A streptococcal pharyngitis employing the rapid antigen detecting test. A 1-year prospective study of reliability and cost in primary care centres. Ann Trop Pediatr 1993; 13:65-72
- 99. Nandi S, Kumar R, Ray P, Vohra H, Ganguly NK: Group A streptococcal sore throat in a periurban population of northern India: a one-year prospective study. Bull World Health Organ 2001; 79(6):528-33
- 100. Lennon D: Rheumatic fever, a preventable disease? The New Zealand experience, in Streptococci and streptococcal diseases: entering the new millenium. Edited by Martin DR, Tagg JR. Porirua, ESR, 2000, pp 503-512
- 101. Danchin MH, Rogers S, Selvaraj G, Kelpie L, Rankin P, Vorich R, Howson M, Carlin JB, Curtis N, Nolan TM, Carapetis JR: The burden of group A streptococcal pharyngitis in Melbourne families. Indian J Med Res 2004; 119 Suppl:144-7

- 102. Oli K, Porteous J: Rheumatic heart disease among school children in Addis Ababa City: awareness and adequacy of its prophylaxis. Ethiop.Med.J. 1999; 37(3):155-161
- 103. Oli K, Porteous J: Prevalence of rheumatic heart disease among school children in Addis Ababa. East Afr.Med.J. 1999; 76(11):601-605
- 104. Maharaj B, Dyer RB, Leary WP, Arbuckle DD, Armstrong TG, Pudifin DJ: Screening for rheumatic heart disease amongst black schoolchildren in Inanda, South Africa. J Trop Pediatr 1987; 33(1):60-1.
- 105. Owono Etoundi P: Le rhumatisme articulaire aigu et le rhumatisme cardiaque: donnees epidemiologiques dans la population scolarisee 6-15 ans de la ville de Yaounde; resultats preliminaire, in Centre Universitaire des Sciences de la Sante. Yaounde, Universite de Yaounde, 1989
- 106. Anabwani GM, Amoa AB, Muita AK: Epidemiology of rheumatic heart disease among primary school children in western Kenya. Int J Cardiol 1989; 23(2):249-52.
- 107. Anabwani GM, Bonhoeffer P: Prevalence of heart disease in school children in rural Kenya using colour-flow echocardiography. East Afr.Med.J. 1996; 73(4):215-217
- 108. Ibrahim-Khalil S, Elhag M, Ali E, Mahgoub F, Hakiem S, Omer N, Shafie S, Mahgoub E: An epidemiological survey of rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in Sahafa Town, Sudan. J.Epidemiol.Community Health 1992; 46(5):477-479
- 109. Moyen G: Cardiopathies rhumatismales de l'enfant a Brazzaville report to WHO. Geneva, World Health Organisation, 1996, pp 1-15
- 110. Mukelabai K, Pobee JOM, Shilalukey-Ngoma M, Malek ANA, Pankajam MI, Mupela M: Rheumatic heart disease in a sub-Saharan African city: epidemiology, prophylaxis and health education. Cardiologie Tropicale 2000; 26:25-8
- 111. Oli K, Tekle-Haimanot R, Forsgren L, Ekstedt J: Rheumatic heart disease prevalence among schoolchildren of an Ethiopian rural town. Cardiology 1992; 80(2):152-155
- 112. Toure S, Balde MD, Balde OD, Sow T, Toure A, Conde A: Enquete sur les cardiopathies en milieu scolaire et universitaire a Conakry (R Guinee). Cardiologie Tropicale 1992; 18:205-10
- 113. Guzman SV: ISFC/WHO/UNESCO joint project on RF/RHD prevention and health promotion in school children. Country: Philippines. Guidelines for the plan of operation for Phase 1. Manila, Philippine Foundation for the prevention and control of rheumatic fever rheumatic heart disease, 1999, pp 1-8
- 114. Okuni M: Prevention of rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in Japan, in First national scientific conference on rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in Bangladesh, May 4-5, 1992. Edited by Faruq QO. Dhaka, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Government of the People's Republic of Bangladesh, 1992, pp 7-8
- 115. Kumar P, Garhwal S, Chaudhary V: Rheumatic heart disease: a school survey in a rural area of Rajasthan. Indian Heart J. 1992; 44(4):245-246
- 116. Shrestha UK, Bhattarai TN, Pandey MR: Prevalence of rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in school children in a rural community of the hill region of Nepal. Indian Heart J. 1991; 43(1):39-41
- 117. Regmi PR, Pandey MR: Prevalence of rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in school children of Kathmandu city. Indian Heart J. 1997; 49(5):518-520

- 118. Patel DC, Patel NI, Patel JD, Patel SD: Rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in school children of Anand. J Assoc Physicians India 1986; 34(12):837-9.
- 119. Avasthi G, Singh D, Singh C, Aggarwal SP, Bidwai PS, Avasthi R: Prevalence survey of rheumatic fever (RF) and rheumatic heart disease (Rhd) in urban & rural school children in Ludhiana. Indian Heart J 1987; 39(1):26-8.
- 120. Begum UHN, Haque KM, Rouf MA: Clinical profile of RF and RHD in 5-15 years old school children: a school survey report, in Second national scientific conference on rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease, May 29-30, 1993. Edited by Faruq QO. Dhaka, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Government of the People's Republic of Bangladesh, 1993, pp 28-33
- 121. Zaman MM: Rheumatic heart disease prevalence in Dhaka school children. Dhaka, 1991
- 122. Joardar MR, Faruq QO, Haque S: Prevalence of RF and RHD in rural people of Bangladesh, in Second national scientific conference on rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease, May 29-30, 1993. Edited by Faruq QO. Dhaka, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Government of the People's Republic of Bangladesh, 1993, pp 98-100
- 123. Olgunturk R, Aydin GB, Tunaoglu FS, Akalin N: Rheumatic heart disease prevalence among schoolchildren in Ankara, Turkey. Turk.J.Pediatr. 1999; 41(2):201-206
- 124. Hasab AA, Jaffer A, Riyami AM. Rheumatic heart disease among Omani schoolchildren. Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal 1997;3:17-23
- 125. Munibari A-NAA: A study on rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in Yemen, in Medicine. Khartoum, University of Khartoum, 1995, pp 1-116
- 126. Finau SA, Taylor L: Rheumatic heart disease and school screening: initiatives at an isolated hospital in Tonga. Med J Aust 1988; 148(11):563-7.
- 127. Brennan RE, Patel MS: Acute rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in a rural central Australian aboriginal community. Med.J.Aust. 1990; 153(6):335, 338-335, 339
- 128. Neilson G, Streatfield RW, West M, Johnson S, Glavin W, Baird S: Rheumatic fever and chronic rheumatic heart disease in Yarrabah aboriginal community, north Queensland. Establishment of a prophylactic program. Med.J.Aust. 1993; 158(5):316-318
- 129. Nordet PE: Fiebre reumatica en Ciudad de la Habana Prevalence. Rev Cubana Pediatr 1989; 61:228-237
- 130. Lopez R: RF/RHD. Comprehensive programme for prevention. Pinar de Rio, Cuba, 1986-1996 (primary and secondary prevention). Pinar del Rio, University of Cuba, 2000
- 131. Nordet PE: Fiebre reumatica incidencia, prevalencia y aspectos clinico-epidemiologicos. Rev Cubana Cardiol Cir Cardiovasc 1991; 5:25-33
- 132. Alves Meira ZM, de Castilho SR, Lins Barros MV, Maria VA, Diniz CF, Moreira NS, Moreira Camargos PA, Coelho Mota CC: [Prevalence of rheumatic fever in children from a public high school in Belo Horizonte]. Arq Bras.Cardiol. 1995; 65(4):331-334
- 133. Tapia PJ, Suarez EI, Lanza VHZ, Balderrama MH: Contribucion al estudio epidemiologico de la fiebre reumatica / cardiopatia reumatica (FR/CR). Examen escolar en el distrito V. Villa Fatima, La Paz, Bolivia. La Paz, Ministerio de Salud Publica, 1990, pp 1-18

- 134. Folomeeva OM, Benevolenskaia LI: [Rheumatism in the Russian Federation: statistic and reality]. Vestn.Ross.Akad.Med.Nauk 1996(11):21-24
- 135. Omar A: Pattern of acute rheumatic fever in a local teaching hospital. Med.J.Malaysia 1995; 50(2):125-130
- 136. Bukumirovic K: [Epidemiologic characteristics of streptococcal pharyngitis, scarlatina and rheumatic fever in the area of Belgrade 1981-1987]. Srp.Arh.Celok.Lek. 1990; 118(9-10):393-396
- 137. Cernay J, Rusnak M, Raisova A: [Incidence of rheumatic fever in Slovakia during the last 20 years]. Cesk.Pediatr. 1993; 48(2):79-83
- 138. Adanja B, Vlajinac H, Jarebinski M: Socioeconomic factors in the etiology of rheumatic fever. J Hyg Epidemiol Microbiol Immunol 1988; 32:329-335
- 139. Chun LT, Reddy DV, Yim GK, Yamamoto LG: Acute rheumatic fever in Hawaii: 1966 to 1988. Hawaii Med.J. 1992; 51(8):206-211
- 140. Padmavati S: Rheumatic fever and rheumatic heart disease in India at the turn of the century. Indian Heart J. 2001; 53(1):35-37
- 141. Bach JF, Chalons S, Forier E, Elana G, Jouanelle J, Kayemba S, Delbois D, Mosser A, Saint-Aime C, Berchel C: 10-year educational programme aimed at rheumatic fever in two French Caribbean islands. Lancet 1996; 347(9002):644-648
- 142. Noah PK: Trends in acute rheumatic fever. The Barbados experience. J.Trop.Pediatr. 1994; 40(2):94-96
- 143. Nordet PE: Fiebre reumatica en Ciudad de la Habana Incidence. Rev Cubana Pediatr 1988; 60:32-41
- 144. Kayemba Kay's KS, Dupuis E: [Acute rheumatic fever is still active in Martinique. Epidemiological and clinical study of 34 cases observed during the 1987-1991 period]. Pediatrie. 1993; 48(11):823-827
- Lopez ESL: Fiebre reumatica en el quinquenio 1994-1999 en dos hospitales en San luis Potosi y en Mexico
 D.F. Archivos de Cardiologica de Mexico 2001; 71:127-35
- 146. Meira ZMA: Prevalence of rheumatic fever in children from a public high school in Belo Horizonte, Brazil. Archives of Brasilian Cardiology 1995; 65:331-4
- 147. Eshel G, Barr J, Azizi E, Aladgem M, Algom M, Mundel G: Acute rheumatic fever in the young: changing prevalence and pattern. Eur J Pediatr 1988; 148(3):208-10.
- 148. Habib GS, Saliba WR, Mader R: Rheumatic fever in the Nazareth area during the last decade. Isr.Med.Assoc.J. 2000; 2(6):433-437
- 149. Eltohami EA, Hajar HA, Folger GM, Jr.: Acute rheumatic fever in an Arabian Gulf country—effect of climate, advantageous socioeconomic conditions, and access to medical care. Angiology 1997; 48(6):481-489
- 150. Eshel G, Lahat E, Azizi E, Gross B, Aladjem M: Chorea as a manifestation of rheumatic fever—a 30-year survey (1960-1990). Eur.J.Pediatr. 1993; 152(8):645-646
- 151. Majeed HA, Doudin K, Lubani M, Shaltout A, Doussary L, Suliman MA: Acute rheumatic fever in Kuwait: the declining incidence. Ann Saudi Med 1993; 13:56-59
- 152. Kechrid A, Kharrat H, Bousnina S, Kriz P, Kaplan EL: Acute rheumatic fever in Tunisia. Serotypes of group A streptococci associated with rheumatic fever. Adv.Exp.Med.Biol. 1997; 418:121-123

- 153. Richmond P, Harris L: Rheumatic fever in the Kimberley region of Western Australia. J.Trop.Pediatr. 1998; 44(3):148-152
- 154. Yip GW, Ho PP, Woo KS, Sanderson JE: Comparison of frequencies of left ventricular systolic and diastolic heart failure in Chinese living in Hong Kong. Am J Cardiol 1999; 84(5):563-7.
- 155. Jamal F, Salleh HM, Tan SP: Rheumatic heart disease in Malaysia. World Health Forum 1994; 15(1):56-57
- 156. Khoo KL, Tan H, Khoo TH: Cardiovascular mortality in Peninsular Malaysia: 1950-1989. Med.J.Malaysia 1991; 46(1):7-20
- 157. Hsieh TT, Chen KC, Soong JH: Outcome of pregnancy in patients with organic heart disease in Taiwan. Asia Oceania J.Obstet.Gynaecol. 1993; 19(1):21-27
- 158. Abena-Obama MT, Muna WF, Leckpa JP, Kingue S, Kobella-Mbollo M, Befidi-Mengue R: Cardiovascular disorders in sub-Saharan African children: a hospital-based experience in Cameroon. Cardiologie Tropicale 1995; 21:5-11
- 159. Maru M: The changing pattern of cardiovascular diseases in Ethiopia. East Afr. Med. J. 1993; 70(12):772-776
- 160. Ephrem D, Abegaz B, Muhe L: Profile of cardiac diseases in Ethiopian children. East Afr.Med.J. 1990; 67(2):113-117
- 161. Daniel E, Abegaz B: Profile of cardiac disease in an out-patient cardiac clinic. Trop.Geogr.Med. 1993; 45(3):121-123
- 162. Bertrand E, Gerard R: [Comparison of hospital prevalence of rheumatic heart diseases and acute rheumatic arthritis in France and Africa]. Arch.Mal Coeur Vaiss. 1993; 86(3):291-295
- 163. Amoah AG, Kallen C: Aetiology of heart failure as seen from a National Cardiac Referral Centre in Africa. Cardiology 2000; 93(1-2):11-18
- 164. Bertrand E, Coulibaly AO, Ticolat R: Statistiques 1988, 1989 et 1990 de l'Institut de Cardiologie, Abidjan. Cardiologie Tropicale 1991; 17:151-5
- 165. Davis JT, Detweiler D, Roberts S: Prevalence of paediatric cardiac disease in rural Kenya. East Afr.Med.J. 1991; 68(10):751-756
- 166. Oyoo GO, Ogola EN: Clinical and socio demographic aspects of congestive heart failure patients at Kenyatta National Hospital, Nairobi. East Afr.Med.J. 1999; 76(1):23-27
- 167. Lodenyo HA, McLigeyo SO, Ogola EN: Cardiovascular disease in elderly in-patients at the Kenyatta National Hospital, Nairobi-Kenya. East Afr.Med.J. 1997; 74(10):647-651
- 168. Dgedge M, Novoa A, Macassa G, Sacarlal J, Black J, Michaud C, Cliff J: The burden of disease in Maputo City, Mozambique: registered and autopsied deaths in 1994. Bull.World Health Organ 2001; 79(6):546-552
- 169. Onwuchekwa AC, Ugwu EC: Pattern of rheumatic heart disease in adults in Maiduguri—north east Nigeria. Trop.Doct. 1996; 26(2):67-69
- 170. Ba SA, Kane A, Hane L, Diop IB, Sarr M, Bao O: Cardiopathies rhumatismales au Senegal: espects cliniques et therapeutiques. Cardiologie Tropicale 1998; 24:31-7
- 171. Ba SA, Diouf S, Diop IB, Kane A, Sarr M, Hane L: Cardiopathies rhumatismales au Senegal: espects cliniques et therapeutiques. Cardiologie Tropicale 1992; 18(Special 1):140

- 172. Sall PMG, Diagne I, Moreira C, Diouf S, Mbaye N, Martin L: Maladies chroniques et adolescence dans un service de pediatrie. S.Afr.Med. 1991; 30:308-10
- 173. Naidoo DP, Desai DK, Moodley J: Maternal deaths due to pre-existing cardiac disease. Cardiovasc.J.S.Afr. 2002; 13(1):17-20
- 174. Garenne M, Kahn K, Tollman S, Gear J: Causes of death in a rural area of South Africa: an international perspective. J.Trop.Pediatr. 2000; 46(3):183-190
- 175. Stevens JE, Vosloo SM, Buchanan-Lee B, Mokhobo KP, Schoon MG: Cardiovascular disease in pregnancy—Part I. Round-table discussion. S Afr Med J 1997; 87 Suppl 3:C172-80.
- 176. Schoon MG, Bam RH, Wolmarans L: Cardiac disease during pregnancy—a Free State perspective on maternal morbidity and mortality. S Afr Med J 1997; 87 Suppl 1:C19-22.
- 177. el Hag Al: Pattern of congenital heart disease in Sudanese children. East Afr.Med.J. 1994; 71(9):580-586
- 178. Meng L, Bai L, Hao EH. Analysis on the health status of residents from Diseases Surveillance Points in Gansu Province. Zhonghua Liu Xing.Bing.Xue.Za Zhi. 1995; 16(6):362-364
- 179. Chen H, Fan W, Jin X, Wang Q, Pan X, Chen X, Wang M, Dai R, Cao Y, Li B: Changing pattern of heart diseases in Shanghai from the 1950s to 1980s. Chin Med.J.(Engl.) 1999; 112(1):14-17
- 180. Fabecic-Sabadi V, Kokos Z, Oberiter V, Lukanovic-Novak T: [The effect of prevention and other factors in the decrease in rheumatic fever]. Lijec.Vjesn. 1998; 120(6):151-156
- 181. Simon G, Ibrahim M, Rumpler J, Sarvari K: [Rheumatic fever, a disease undergoing change, based on the experience of the past 15 years]. Orv.Hetil. 1995; 136(38):2043-2046
- 182. Ifere OA, Masokano KA: Infective endocarditis in children in the Guinea savannah of Nigeria. Ann.Trop.Paediatr. 1991; 11(3):233-240
- 183. Joshi PP, Mohanan CJ, Sengupta SP, Salkar RG: Factors precipitating congestive heart failure—role of patient non-compliance. J.Assoc.Physicians India 1999; 47(3):294-295
- 184. Krishnaswami S, Joseph G, Richard J: Demands on tertiary care for cardiovascular diseases in India: analysis of data for 1960-89. Bull.World Health Organ 1991; 69(3):325-330
- 185. Anonymous: Sri Lanka: hospital statistics relating to cardiovascular diseases, 1988-1989. Columbo, Government Statistics, 1989, p 1
- 186. McSwain M, Martin TC, Amaraswamy R: The prevalence, aetiology and treatment of congestive cardiac failure in Antigua and Barbuda. West Indian Med J 1999; 48(3):137-40.
- 187. Pereira AC, Cuce MR, Wajngarten M, Fernandes M, Ballas D, Serro-Azul JB: Insuficienca cardiaca em grande Hospital terciaro de Sao Paulo. Arq. Bras. Cardiol. 1998; 71:15-20
- 188. Tandeitnik LS, De Moraes CRR, de Sa DTM, Mattos SS, Severi RS: Programme for the prevention of rheumatic fever / rheumatic heart disease in Recife northeast of Brazil. Recife, Heart Institute of Pernambuco and Town Hall of the city of Recife, 1991, pp 1-23
- 189. Borzouee M: The rise and fall and characteristics of rheumatic fever in Southern Iran: a look at two studies years apart. Shiraz, Pediatric Cardiology Division, Pediatrics Department, Shiraz Medical School, 1999, pp 1-9
- 190. Ilia R, Gussarsky D, Levitas A, Gueron M: [Rheumatic fever among children in the Negev]. Harefuah 1992; 122(5):289-290

- 191. Ghram N, Allani C, Oudali B, Fitouri Z, Ben Becher S: [Sydenham's chorea in children]. Arch.Pediatr. 1999; 6(10):1048-1052
- 192. Karaaslan S, Oran B, Reisli I, Erkul I: Acute rheumatic fever in Konya, Turkey. Pediatr.Int. 2000; 42(1):71-75
- 193. Cunningham J, Condon JR: Premature mortality in aboriginal adults in the Northern Territory, 1979-1991. Med.J.Aust. 1996; 165(6):309-312
- 194. Duke T, Michael A, Mgone J, Frank D, Wal T, Sehuko R: Etiology of child mortality in Goroka, Papua New Guinea: a prospective two-year study. Bull.World Health Organ 2002; 80(1):16-25
- 195. Zarifis J, Beevers G, Lip GY: Acute admissions with atrial fibrillation in a British multiracial hospital population. Br.J.Clin.Pract. 1997; 51(2):91-96
- 196. Pugno Vanoni MC, Sticca M, Grasso E: [Rheumatic fever from 1960's to 1990's. Case records in 2 hospitals of the Lombardian area]. Pediatr.Med.Chir 1992; 14(4):415-420
- 197. Gerloni V, Gattinara M, Murelli M, Tamburrino V, Sciascia T, Fantini F: [Rheumatic fever]. Pediatr.Med.Chir 1990; 12(5):433-440
- 198. Dolara A, Santoro G, Zuppiroli A: [Acquired valvular cardiopathies in Italy: the dimensions of the problem and variations in etiology]. Cardiologia 1993; 38(3):185-190
- 199. Lund M, Ellis CJ, Coverdale HA, Agnew TM, Haydock DA, Middleton NG, Whitfield CJ, Whitlock RM: Cardiac transplantation in New Zealand: eight years experience. N.Z.Med.J. 1997; 110(1042):139-142
- 200. Doughty R, Yee T, Sharpe N, MacMahon S: Hospital admissions and deaths due to congestive heart failure in New Zealand, 1988-91. N.Z.Med.J. 1995; 108(1012):473-475
- 201. Joakimsen RM, Magnus JH: [Rheumatic fever—does it exist in Norway today?]. Tidsskr.Nor Laegeforen. 1994; 114(24):2854-2856
- 202. Westerling R, Gullberg A, Rosen M: Socioeconomic differences in 'avoidable' mortality in Sweden 1986-1990. Int.J.Epidemiol. 1996; 25(3):560-567
- 203. Rene AA, Daniels DE, Jones W, Jr., Jiles R: Mortality preventable by medical intervention: ethnic and regional differences in Texas. J.Natl.Med.Assoc. 1995; 87(11):820-825
- 204. Nissen H, Nielsen PF, Frederiksen M, Helleberg C, Nielsen JS: Native valve infective endocarditis in the general population: a 10-year survey of the clinical picture during the 1980s. Eur. Heart J. 1992; 13(7):872-877
- 205. Normand J, Bozio A, Etienne J, Sassolas F, Le Bris H: Changing patterns and prognosis of infective endocarditis in childhood. Eur.Heart J. 1995; 16 Suppl B:28-31
- 206. Saiman L, Prince A, Gersony WM: Pediatric infective endocarditis in the modern era. J.Pediatr. 1993; 122(6):847-853
- 207. Aoun NB, Albanesi Filho FM, Rachid MB, Fernandes LA, Messias JA: [Infective endocarditis in adolescents. Analysis of risk factors for hospital mortality]. Arg Bras.Cardiol. 1997; 69(6):407-412
- 208. Hodes RM: Endocarditis in Ethiopia. Analysis of 51 cases from Addis Ababa. Trop.Geogr.Med. 1993; 45(2):70-72
- 209. Khanal B, Harish BN, Sethuraman KR, Srinivasan S: Infective endocarditis: report of a prospective study in an Indian hospital. Tropical Doctor 2002; 32(2):83-5

- 210. Choudhury R, Grover A, Varma J, Khattri HN, Anand IS, Bidwai PS, Wahi PL, Sapru RP: Active infective endocarditis observed in an Indian hospital 1981-1991. Am.J.Cardiol. 1992; 70(18):1453-1458
- 211. Dhawan A, Grover A, Marwaha RK, Khattri HN, Anand IS, Kumar L, Walia BN, Bidwai PS: Infective endocarditis in children: profile in a developing country. Ann.Trop.Paediatr. 1993; 13(2):189-194
- 212. Agarwal R, Bahl VK, Malaviya AN: Changing spectrum of clinical and laboratory profile of infective endocarditis. J.Assoc.Physicians India 1992; 40(11):721-723
- 213. Kouassi Yapo FL, Adoh AM, N'Dori R, Bassa M, N'Takpe N, Aboua E: Aspects echocardiographiques des endocardites infectieuses a Abidjan (a propos de 50 cas). Cardiologie Tropicale 1996; 22:51-6
- 214. Bennis A, Zahraoui M, Azzouzi L, Soulami S, Mehadji BA, Tahiri A, Chraibi N: [Bacterial endocarditis in Morocco]. Ann.Cardiol.Angeiol.(Paris) 1995; 44(7):339-344
- 215. Hricak V, Kovacik J, Marx P, Schramekova E, Fischer V, Vitekova D, Sedlak T, Duris I, Samudovsky J, Semanova M, Kovac M, Duris T, Herman O, Cernoskova M, Sefara J, Kojsova M, Baranikova D, Ayazi M, Dacok J, Mraz M, Krizan S, Danaj J, Sulcava AM, Neuschlova D, Krcmery V, . Etiology and risk factors of 180 cases of native valve endocarditis. Report from a 5-year national prospective survey in Slovak Republic. Diagn.Microbiol.Infect.Dis. 1998; 31(3):431-435
- 216. Cetinkaya Y, Akova M, Akalin HE, Ascioglu S, Hayran M, Uzuns O, Aksoyek S, Tokgozoglu L, Oto A, Kes S, Pasaoglu I, Unal S: A retrospective review of 228 episodes of infective endocarditis where rheumatic valvular disease is still common. Int.J.Antimicrob.Agents 2001; 18(1):1-7
- 217. Berrios X, Lagomarsino E, Morales A, Guzman B, Rodriguez C, Bisno A, Quesney F: [Incidence of acute post-streptococcal glomerulonephritis in a hospital in Santiago, Chile, 1980-1989. Preliminary report]. Bol Oficina Sanit Panam 1986; 100(6):607-21.
- 218. Carapetis JR, Walker AM, Hibble M, Sriprakash KS, Currie BJ: Clinical and epidemiological features of group A streptococcal bacteraemia in a region with hyperendemic superficial streptococcal infection. Epidemiol.Infect. 1999; 122(1):59-65
- 219. Norton R, Smith HV, Wood N, Siegbrecht E, Ross A, Ketheesan N: Invasive group A streptococcal disease in North Queensland (1996-2001). Indian J Med Res 2004; 119 (Suppl):148-151
- 220. Andersen MM, Ronne T: Group A streptococcal bacteraemias in Denmark 1987-89. J.Infect. 1995; 31(1):33-37
- 221. Loubinoux J, Florent M, Merad B, Collobert G, Bouvet A: Group A streptococcal infections in France, in Proceedings of the 15th Lancefield International Symposium on Streptococci and Streptococcal Diseases. Goa, LISSSD, 2002, p O2.3
- 222. Livni G, Ashkenazi S, Leibovici L, Pitlik S, Lev B, Konisberger H, Samra Z, Drucker M: Incidence and severity of group A streptococcal bacteremia in a medical center in Israel, 1981-1994. Scand.J.Infect.Dis. 1996; 28(2):139-142
- 223. Moses AE, Goldberg S, Korenman Z, Ravins M, Hanski E, Shapiro M: Invasive group a streptococcal infections, Israel. Emerg.Infect.Dis. 2002; 8(4):421-426
- 224. Chiobotaru P, Yagupsky P, Fraser D, Dagan R: Changing epidemiology of invasive Streptococcus pyogenes infections in southern Israel: differences between two ethnic population groups. Pediatr.Infect.Dis.J. 1997; 16(2):195-199

- 225. Hoiby EA, Hasseltvedt V: [Increased incidence of severe Streptococcus group A infections in Noway during the last 10 years. New outbreak 1993-94]. Tidsskr.Nor Laegeforen. 1995; 115(25):3131-3136
- 226. Laupland KB, Davies HD, Low DE, Schwartz B, Green K, McGeer A: Invasive group A streptococcal disease in children and association with varicella-zoster virus infection. Ontario Group A Streptococcal Study Group. Pediatrics 2000; 105(5):E60
- 227. Svensson N, Oberg S, Henriques B, Holm S, Kallenius G, Romanus V, Giesecke J: Invasive group A streptococcal infections in Sweden in 1994 and 1995: epidemiology and clinical spectrum. Scand.J.Infect.Dis. 2000; 32(6):609-614
- 228. Invasive group A streptococcal infections: second report of the enhanced surveillance scheme. Commun.Dis.Rep.CDR Wkly. 1995; 5(26):123-124
- 229. Barnham MRD, Weightman NC: Changing incidence of detected streptococcal bacteraemia in North Yorkshire, in Proceedings of the 15th Lancefield International Symposium on Streptococci and Streptococcal Diseases. Goa, LISSSD, 2002, p P1.12
- 230. Figueroa JI, Fuller LC, Abraha A, Hay RJ: Dermatology in southwestern Ethiopia: rationale for a community approach. Int.J.Dermatol. 1998; 37(10):752-758
- 231. Henderson CA: Skin disease in rural Tanzania. Int.J.Dermatol. 1996; 35(9):640-642
- 232. Massa A, Alves R, Amado J, Matos E, Sanches M, Selores M, Santos C, Costa V, Velho G, Oliveira M, Ferreira E, Taveira M, Silva NS, Granado E, Lemos A, Calheiros JM: [Prevalence of cutaneous lesions in Freixo de Espada a Cinta]. Acta Med.Port. 2000; 13(5-6):247-254
- 233. Wu YH, Su HY, Hsieh YJ: Survey of infectious skin diseases and skin infestations among primary school students of Taitung County, eastern Taiwan. J.Formos.Med.Assoc. 2000; 99(2):128-134
- 234. Schmeller W, Dzikus A: Skin diseases in children in rural Kenya: long-term results of a dermatology project within the primary health care system. Br.J.Dermatol. 2001; 144(1):118-124
- 235. Schmeller W: Community health workers reduce skin diseases in East African children. Int.J.Dermatol. 1998; 37(5):370-377
- 236. Gibbs S: Skin disease and socioeconomic conditions in rural Africa: Tanzania. Int J Dermatol 1996; 35:633-639
- 237. Hay RJ, Castanon RE, Hernandez HA, Lopez GC, Fuentes LFL, Solis SP, Andersson N: Wastage of family income on skin disease in Mexico. BMJ 1994; 309:848
- 238. Kristensen JK: Scabies and Pyoderma in Lilongwe, Malawi. Prevalence and seasonal fluctuation. Int.J.Dermatol. 1991; 30(10):699-702
- 239. Norhayati binti MM, Noor Hayati MI, Nor FN, Rohani AK, Halimah AS, Sharom MY, Zainal Abidin AH: Health status of Orang Asli (aborigine) community in Pos Piah, Sungai Siput, Perak, Malaysia. Southeast Asian J.Trop.Med.Public Health 1998; 29(1):58-61
- 240. Cairncross S, Clift JL: Water use and health in Mueda, Mozambique. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 1987; 81:51-54
- 241. Dagnew MB, Gunther E: [Epidemiology of communicable skin diseases in school children of a rural area in North Ethiopia]. Dermatol.Monatsschr. 1990; 176(4):219-223

- 242. Harris M, Nako D, Hopkins T, Powell DM, Kenny C, Carroll C, Carroll K: Skin infections in Tanna, Vanuatu in 1989. P.N.G.Med.J. 1992; 35(2):137-143
- 243. Bechelli LM, Haddad N, Pimenta WP, Pagnano PM, Melchior E, Jr., Fregnan RC, Zanin LC, Arenas A: Epidemiological survey of skin diseases in schoolchildren living in the Purus Valley (Acre State, Amazonia, Brazil). Dermatologica 1981; 163(1):78-93
- 244. Mahe A, Prual A, Konate M, Bobin P: Skin diseases of children in Mali: a public health problem. Trans.R.Soc.Trop.Med.Hyg. 1995; 89(5):467-470
- 245. Norazah A, Normaznah Y, Kamel AG, Rohani MY: Streptococcal impetigo among aboriginal children in Malaysia. Southeast Asian J.Trop.Med.Public Health 1995; 26(4):803-804
- 246. Satimia FT, McBride SR, Leppard B: Prevalence of skin disease in rural Tanzania and factors influencing the choice of health care, modern or traditional. Arch.Dermatol. 1998; 134(11):1363-1366
- 247. Wong LC, Amega B, Connors C, Barker R, Dulla ME, Ninnal A, Kolumboort L, Cumaiyi MM, Currie BJ: Outcome of an interventional program for scabies in an Indigenous community. Med.J.Aust. 2001; 175(7):367-370
- 248. Odueko OM, Onayemi O, Oyedeji GA: A prevalence survey of skin diseases in Nigerian children. Niger.J.Med. 2001; 10(2):64-67
- 249. Eason RJ, Tasman-Jones T: Resurgent yaws and other skin diseases in the Western Province of the Solomon Islands. P N G Med J 1985; 28:247-250
- 250. Carapetis JR, Connors C, Yarmirr D, Krause V, Currie BJ: Success of a scabies control program in an Australian aboriginal community. Pediatr.Infect.Dis.J. 1997; 16(5):494-499
- 251. Lehmann D, Silva D, Tennant M, Stanley F: Impact of introduction of swimming pools on health of Aboriginal children and adolescents living in remote areas of Western Australia. Perth, Telethon Institute for Child Health Research, 2002, pp 1-9
- 252. Shelby-James TM, Leach AJ, Carapetis JR, Currie BJ, Mathews JD: Impact of single dose azithromycin on group A streptococci in the upper respiratory tract and skin of Aboriginal children. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2002; 21(5):375-80.